
ANNUAL REPORT 2019



Annual Report 2019 AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s.

2 3

CONTENT

06 FOREWORD BY THE PRESIDENT & CEO

08 COMPANY PROFILE
Corporate Profile
Corporate Governance
Company management as at 31 December 2019
Changes in the Company management
Aero‘s Mission & Strategy
Major events in 2019

16 BUSINESS OVERVIEW
L-39NG (Next Generation) Program
Support of Proprietary Aircraft
Light combat and training system L-159
Support of the L-39 and L-59 aircraft
Re-engining of existing L-39s (L-39CW)
Aerostructures
Embraer KC-390 Millennium
Airbus A220
Leonardo C-27J Spartan
Sikorsky UH-60M A S-70i Black Hawk
Other programs

26 FINANCIAL RESULTS
Sales
Profit
Asset Structure
Capital expenditures, development programs, 
research and development
Human Resources
Environment
Flight Operations & Airport Division

38 HISTORY
Early Days
Expansion
War Production
Jet Era
Original Jet Trainers
Modern history

40 AERO HIGHLIGHTS THROUGH THE YEARS

46 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

48 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S  REPORT

52 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

62 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

90 REPORT ON RELATIONS BETWEEN 
RELATED PARTIES



4 years have passed 
since the introduction of the 
L-39NG aircraft concept 
at the Farnborough Air Show 
to its first flight 
on December 22, 2018.
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FOREWORD BY 
THE PRESIDENT & CEO

The year 2019 was not only very challenging, but also very important for Ae-
ro’s future. We were able to win back the trust of our shareholder and other
stakeholders, e.g. customers, banks and suppliers. We refinanced existing
debt by means of loan renewal and extension to ensure sustainability of the
Company’s financing. In May 2019, we completed the unpopular, but inevi-
table project of workforce downsizing to maintain the Company's competi-
tiveness. We agreed on a five-year plan with our shareholder. We launched
the A3F strategy and adopted a number of changes leading to savings in the
area of procurement, increased operational efficiency and improved quality
management. We identified areas where overhead and operating cost re-
duction, working capital reduction and faster cash flows could be reached.
We completed the Aerostructures programs restructuring and negotiated
new contracts for strategic and growing programs. We also managed to suc-
cessfully resume the MRO activities and concluded several significant con-
tracts with both Czech and foreign customers.

Unfortunately, the Company did not meet its 2019 financial targets as
two new L-39NG contracts were postponed to 2020, which had a signifi-
cant impact on the Company’s turnover and profit. The 2019 turnover was
CZK 2.92 billion and the recorded loss before tax was CZK 1.13 billion; the
results were affected, inter alia, by the non-recurring costs of imple-
mentation of the A3F strategy and the severance payments connected
with downsizing. The postponed contracts, nevertheless, seem to be
a promise for future years. In terms of cash, Aero exceeded its targets
thanks to strong working capital management, cost savings and empha-
sis on cash flows throughout the organization.

The future of the L-39NG has become clearer as the project reached all
key milestones scheduled for 2019 and continues as planned in 2020. Be-
fore the end of 2019, three aircraft entered the L-39NG flight program:
two prototypes with serial numbers 7001 and 7004 and the technological
demonstrator (aircraft with fuselage number 2626). We also finalized two
prototypes for ground tests. Our development and testing program is on
its way to certification, commercialization and industrialization in 2020.

In the area of   MRO services and improvements, we won a contract for a
record number of 35 aircraft in 2019. This year, too, we want to convince
current L-39 users that only the original manufacturer can guarantee
the highest quality of service, improvements using latest technologies
and proper performance and functions of the aircraft. In the coming
years, MRO services will play an important part in the Company's growth
and expansion of customer base. Until the launch of mass production of
the L-39NG, MRO services will constitute a key pillar of our business. 

Last year was rather turbulent for AERO
Vodochody AEROSPACE in many respects.
The Company celebrated 100 years from its
founding and joined the exclusive group of aero-
space companies with such a long history.

Aero entered 2019 in a difficult financial situ-
ation, which was due to several reasons. The
Sikorsky S-76 helicopter program, which had
been very profitable for many years, ended
due to the oil and gas market decline. In ad-
dition, in the first quarter of 2019, the com-
pany Sikorsky/LM unexpectedly decided to
terminate the Black Hawk helicopter cockpit
manufacturing program in Aero. The Black
Hawk program was relocated to the United
States in order to meet Donald Trump's
"America First" policy. On the other hand,
despite the unfavorable developments and si-
milarly to previous years, Aero made signifi-
cant investments in the design of the new
L-39NG jet trainer aircraft; the new aircraft
is a strategic investment in the Company's
future, yet does not generate any profit yet.
Our forecasts had clearly indicated that 2019
would not be an easy year for Aero. The above
chain of events mixed a toxic cocktail for Aero
to celebrate the anniversary. The good news
is, however, that the Company luckily did not
have to drink the cup to the bottom.

In March 2019, the new management of Aero
presented the A3F strategy - Aero Fit For
Future, a comprehensive two-year transfor-
mation and recovery program (more about
A3F on page 12). A3F focuses on increasing
the Company's efficiency, optimizing Aero's
operations and supply chain, and preparing
the Company for a profitable future. When
reading the results for 2019, we must bear
in mind though that the benefits of most of
the adopted measures will not become appa-
rent until 2020 and beyond.

The year 2019 also marked the completion
of optimization of our Aerostructures pro-
gram portfolio. Following the termination of
the Sikorsky helicopter programs and a
total of eight small nonprofitmaking pro-
grams, we will move ahead with five key Ae-
rostructures programs, selected according
to the following consistent criteria: the pro-
grams are meaningful in terms of strategy,
industry, finance and growth prospects,
and, for some of them, we are the holder of
partial development authorization.

Like any other company on the international
market, AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE is
confronted with the unforeseeable impacts
of the invisible and unexpected enemy cal-
led coronavirus. Despite the situation, the
management of Aero decided to keep the
Company running and operational. We will
continue the L-39NG project with the aim
to achieve certification in September 2020.
So far, we do not see any impact on the run-
ning MRO contracts as the military aviation
is subject to cycles and patterns other than
the civil aviation and is much more resilient,
as already proven by previous crises. In
terms of acquiring new MRO contracts, ho-
wever, we can see certain delays due to tra-
vel restrictions that impede negotiations
of new contracts with customers. 

The Aerostructures programs are naturally
more impacted by the coronavirus pande-
mic due to the production slowdown
of some of our customers and the delays
in the deliveries of materials and parts by
our suppliers; all this has an impact on
commercial programs, also due to their
higher production rates. To a certain extent,
the impact is mitigated by the fact that
some of our aviation programs are military
programs. Given the current pandemic, it is

clear that Aero will be unable to meet its ambitious targets set for 2020,
i.e. to almost double the turnover and go back to black numbers. On the
positive side, however, we believe in the resilience of our business model,
continue all our strategic activities and expect a rapid economic recovery
once the travel restrictions are lifted.

From the very first presentation of the strategy in March 2019, it was clear
that Aero Fit For Future (A3F) would be a two-year journey. At the end of
2019, I could proudly announce that we had reached almost half of it and
we will finish the second half in 2020. Although, in view of the current
crisis, this year will not be a walk in the part, I look into the future
with optimism seeing that the entire management team and all Aero
employees are committed to contributing to the Company’s long-term
success and emerging safely from the turmoil.

Dieter john,
President & CEO

AERO CELEBRATED 100 YEARS 
FROm ITS FOuNDING AND jOINED 
THE ExCLuSIvE GROuP OF AEROSPACE
COmPANIES WITH SuCH A LONG HISTORY.



Annual Report 2019 AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s.

8 9

COmPANY 
PROFILE

in the same year. In the period 2007 through 2011, AERO Vodochody a.s.
achieved accumulated net profit of CZK 1,523 mil. On 1 January 2012, the
manufacturing part of AERO Vodochody a.s. was split off to form AERO Vo-
dochody AEROSPACE a.s., also fully owned by the Penta Group. The regis-
tered capital of Aero is CZK 1,002 million and has been fully paid up. 

Aero is the biggest manufacturer of aviation technology in the Czech
Republic. It is engaged in the development, production, sale and servicing
of military and civil aviation technology. It focuses on the development,
production and maintenance of in-house aircraft as well as cooperation
with leading international aerospace manufacturers under international
cooperation projects. In the context of its military program, Aero has been
a longtime partner of the armed forces of several countries, in particu-
lar the Armed Forces of the Czech Republic. 

Aero has an established quality management system certified according
to AS 9100/ISO 9001 and holds all relevant attestation and certificates
applicable to selected processes and the Company as a whole in accor-
dance with the valid national and international standards. In terms of its
own final production, the Company holds authorization for the individual
activities, i.e. the development, manufacture, maintenance and mainte-
nance training. As a subcontractor, it holds partial approvals of the
Quality Management System and special processes from individual cus-
tomers or under the NADCAP accreditation.

CORPORATE PROFILE

AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s. (hereinaf-
ter also referred to as Aero) is a joint-stock
company that was incorporated on 15 De-
cember 2011 (as TULAREO a.s.; the new
name AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s.
was entered into the Commercial Register
on 19 September 2012). The Company’s re-
gistered office is located at Odolena Voda,
Dolínek, U Letiště 374, postcode 250 70. It is
registered in the Commercial Register main-
tained by the Municipal Court in Prague, Se-
ction B, File No. 17749, Identification No:
24194204, Tax Identification No: CZ24194204.  

Aero is the successor company of AERO Vo-
dochody a.s. pursuant to the project of divi-
sion of the company AERO Vodochody a.s.,
building on the rich tradition of the latter.
Until the end of 2006, almost 100% of the
shares of AERO Vodochody a.s. were owned
by the Czech Consolidation Agency. On 4 Ja-
nuary 2007, the Penta Group became the sole
shareholder of AERO Vodochody a.s. and
launched the company restructuring project

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

PENTA GROuP
Penta is a Central European investment
group founded in 1994, specializing in long-
term investments, primarily in healthcare,
financial services, retail, manufacturing,
media and real estate. 

Penta is one of the largest employers in the
region providing jobs to more than 46,000
people. The Group is active in more than
10 markets throughout Europe and has
offices in Prague, Bratislava and Warsaw. 

KEY 2019 FIGuRES 
(EuR) 

Net profit  265million
Cumulative revenue 6,9 billion
Total assets 11,2 billion

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AS AT 31 DECEmBER 2019
Jakub Hoda Member

SuPERvISORY BOARD AS AT 31 DECEmBER 2019
Dominika Kalinová Chairman
Jan Borýsek Member

COmPANY mANAGEmENT AS AT 31 DECEmBER 2019
Dieter John President & CEO 
Mariusz Kedra Finance, Sourcing, IT & RM
Radek Novotný Legal, Compliance & Export Control
Alice Undus Institutional Relations & PR
Tomáš Vlček HR, Security & HSE
David Čapek QMS & Quality Control
Jakub Hoda Sales & Marketing
Marco Venanzetti L-39NG Program
Jan Štechr MRO Programs
neobsazeno AST Programs
Miloš Trnobranský Engineering 
Hubert Kroczek Procurement & Supply Chain
Jiří Vaverka Operations
Petr Doubek Flight Operations & Airport

AERO IS THE BIGGEST AEROSPACE 
mANuFACTuRER IN THE CzECH REPuBLIC, 
IT FOCuSES ON THE DEvELOPmENT, 
PRODuCTION, SALE AND SERvICING 
OF mILITARY AND CIvIL AvIATION 
TECHNOLOGY.
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CHANGES IN THE COMPANY 
MANAGEMENT

In 2019, Aero undertook a significant
change of management team.

Michal Flídr resigned from the position
of CFO of Aero in February 2019 and was
replaced by Dieter John. In March, based
on an agreement with the shareholder,
Giuseppe Giordo left the position of Presi-
dent and CEO of Aero, and on 18 March
2019, Dieter John took the position.

Further, the following changes in the Com-
pany's management took place in March:
Mariusz Kedra took up the position of CFO
on 27 March 2019. At the end of March,
Massimo Ghione, Chief Business Officer,
left the Company and Jakub Hoda took up
the management of the Sales & Marketing
department. Guido Mule, Secretary Gene-
ral, and Antonio Di Micco, Chief Risk Officer,
also left Aero at the end of March; their re-
sponsibilities were divided among the other
members of management. 

ORGANIZATIONAL 
STRUCTURE 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

In early April, President & CEO Dieter John introduced a new organiza-
tional structure to streamline the organization, improve efficiency, clarify
roles and responsibilities, and reduce the number of managers by
merging selected positions. Miloš Trnobranský was promoted to the po-
sition of Deputy Head of Engineering. Damiano Cotula took over the
management of the Civil Programs in addition to his responsibility for
the Company's strategy. Alice Undus took up the management of the PR
department.

In June, Jan Čáp, Chief Industrial Officer, left Aero. In October, Jiří
Vaverka became the new Vice President for Operations. In November,
two more changes took place: Monika Kowalczyková left the Company
and Hubert Kroczek replaced her in the position of Vice President for
Procurement & Supply Chain; subsequently, Damiano Cotula left the
Company and Pavel Vašíček took up the management of Civil Programs
from 1 January 2020.

In 2019, changes also took place in the Company's Board of Directors.
In March, Petr Brychta was elected a member of the Board of Directors.
His membership ended on 21 June 2019, as Jakub Hoda was elected
a member of the Board of Directors.
Aero has no foreign branch.

IN 2019, AERO uNDERTOOK 
A SIGNIFICANT CHANGE 
OF mANAGEmENT TEAm.

PRESIDENT & CEO
Dieter john

HR, SECuRITY & HSE
Tomáš VLČEK

FINANCE, SOuRCING, IT & Rm
Mariusz KEDRA

INSTITuTIONAL RELATIONS & PR
Alice Undusová

LEGAL, COmPLIANCE 
& ExPORT CONTROL

Radek Novotný

QmS & QuALITY CONTROL
David Čapek

SALES &
mARKETING

Jakub 
Hoda

L-39NG
PROGRAm

Marco 
Venanzetti

DEFENCE
PROGRAmS

Jan 
Štechr

CIvIL
PROGRAmS

Neobsazeno

ENGINEERING

Miloš 
Trnobranský

PROCuRE-
mENT &

SuPPLY CHAIN
Hubert 
Kroczek

OPERATIONS

Jiří
Vaverka

FLIGHT 
OPERATIONS
& AIRPORT

Petr 
Doubek
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AERO STRIvES FOR SuSTAINABLE 
ExCELLENCE OF PRODuCTION 
IN TERmS OF BOTH SATISFACTION
OF CuSTOmER NEEDS AND QuALITY.

AERO‘S MISSION & STRATEGY

OuR mISSION
To consolidate Aero as a global player in the
aeronautics & defense market internationally
recognized as an original aircraft manufactu-
rer, with a significant position also in the
Aerostructures business, and to generate
added value for our customers, partners, sha-
reholders, employees, and the community. 

OuR STRATEGY
The long-term corporate strategy defines in
detail the steps leading to Aero once again be-
coming a major global manufacturer of origi-
nal aircraft (AOM – aircraft original manufactu-
rer). The management of the Company has
identified six main strategic objectives.

 To regain the position of a leading manu-
facturer of light combat and trainer airc-
raft.

 To promote growth through the provision
of additional services and redefining the
customer support system and business
model.

 To optimize the portfolio of contracts in
the Aerostructures business line and to
develop in particular the design-to-build
programs and specific technology pro-
grams.

 To find opportunities for further business
growth through potential new segments,
new industrial partnerships.

 To strive for sustainable excellence of
production in terms of both satisfaction
of customer needs and quality.

 To continue to develop the organization in
terms of competence, international cor-
porate culture and the ability to attract
and retain the best human resources. 

STRATEGIE A3F (AERO FIT FOR FuTuRE)
A3F – Aero Fit For Future, the new strategy that was presented to Com-
pany employees and partners by President & CEO Dieter John at the
beginning of April 2019, aims to achieve stability and prepare Aero for
a long-term and sustainable growth.

Aero’s business strategy adopted in 2016 per se will not change – Aero
will continue to focus mainly on military programs, i.e. the development
and production, repairs, maintenance and upgrade of Aero produced airc-
raft. The L-39NG program remains the Company’s key priority together
with the repair & maintenance, overhaul and modernization of national
and international L-159 and L-39 fleets. In addition, Aero will continue
developing its business as a key supplier of aerostructures and partner
of renowned aircraft manufacturers.

The A3F strategy allowed for dramatic cost reductions, strict spending con-
trol, balanced payment conditions and effective cash management. Aero
and its shareholder continue to invest in the Company’s future, also by im-
plementing AF3. The strategy will leverage Aero´s development and tech-
nical capabilities and ensure its long-term growth and competitiveness.

ETICKý KODEx
Aero protects its heritage and legacy of the largest Czech aerospace
manufacturer and one of the oldest aviation companies in the world by
ensuring an outstanding reputation of honesty, integrity and trustwor-
thiness. We can ensure our legacy to survive for the next generations only
by adhering to the highest standards of conduct in dealings with people,
organizations and governments.

This Code of Ethics covers a wide range of business practices and proce-
dures and sets out basic principles of business integrity to guide Aero and
to help foster a culture aiming at cultivating our brand every single day.

ANTI-CORRuPTION CODE
The purpose of the Anti-Corruption Code is to strengthen prevention
structures and highlight the Company’s strict denial policy against any
illegal business practices, in particular against corruption.



Annual Report 2019 AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s.

14 15

COmPANY 
PROFILE

IN DECEmBER 2019, THE SECOND 
PROTOTYPE OF L-39NG SuCCESSFuLLY 
PERFORmED ITS FIRST FLIGHT. 

MAJOR EVENTS IN 2019

FEBRuARY:
 100th anniversary of Aero’s founding. The Company came to existence on 25 February 1919

in Prague upon registration in the Commercial Register.
 Michal Flídr resigned as the Company's CFO and was replaced by Dieter John.

mARCH:
 On the basis of an agreement with the shareholder, Giuseppe Giordo resigned as President

and CEO of Aero. He was replaced by Dieter John, who took over the management of the
Company on 18 March 2018.

 Mariusz Kedra took up the position of CFO on 27 March 2019.
 At the end of March, Chief Business Officer Massimo Ghione left the Company and Jakub

Hoda took up the management of the Sales & Marketing department.
 Secretary General Guido Mule and Chief Risk Officer Antonio Di Micco left Aero at the end of

March. Their responsibilities were divided among other members of the current management.
 Damiano Cotula took up the management of the Civil Programs, while also retaining his re-

sponsibility for the Company's strategy.
 Petr Brychta was elected a member of the Aero Board of Directors.

APRIL:
 New President & CEO Dieter John introduced the new company stabilization plan A3F (Aero

Fit For Future).
 With effect from 5 April, a new organizational structure entered into force.
 Aero completed the second prototype of the L-39NG aircraft. The machine with serial

manufacturing number 7002 is used for static strength tests.

mAY:
 AERO and the Czech Ministry of Defense announced during the International Defense and

Security Technologies Fair in Brno a contract for the maintenance and overhaul of the 16 L-159
aircraft for four years as part of the PP16 project (periodic maintenance after 16 years of service).

 A new collective bargaining agreement, wage regulation and revised portfolio of employee
benefits entered into force on 1 May.

juNE:
 Aero delivered 3 L-159T2s to the Czech Army.
 Aero sent the last L-159 to the US company Draken international.
 Chief Industrial Officer Jan Čáp left Aero.
 Jakub Hoda was elected a member of the Board of Directors; Petr Brychta's membership

on the Board ended on 20 June.

AuGuST:
 Aero participated in the International Aviation Days SIAF 2019 at the air base Sliač in Slo-

vakia, presenting aircraft with fuselage number 2626, technological demonstrator L-39NG.

SEPTEmBER:
 Elżbieta Bieńkowska, the European Commissioner for Internal Market, Industry, Entrepre-

neurship and SMEs and the European Defense Fund program visited Aero together with the
representatives of the Ministry of Defense of the Czech Republic.

 Aero participated in the AirPower 2019 air show at the military air base in Zeltweg, Austria.
 The first prototype of the L-39NG, No. 7001, reentered the flight test program after a series

of ground tests.
 Aero participated in the NATO Days in Ostrava where, for the first time, the prototype

L-39NG with serial number 7001 made public appearance.

OCTOBER:
 Jiří Vaverka became the new Vice President for Operations.
 The fourth L-39 users Group Conference took place in Slovakia. Representatives of fourteen

air forces from three continents met at the Sliač air base, which is home to the Slovak
L-39 fleet. The new L-39NG was presented to the conference participants; it was the
aircraft’s first ever foreign trip.

 On 6 October, the Chief of the Air Force of the Republic of Senegal, General Joseph Mama-
dou Diop, made one-hour flight in the L-39NG prototype with Aero test pilot Vladimír Tová-
rek; it was the first time a customer representative took flight with the aircraft.

 Aero started overhauls and avionics upgrades of 6 Ethiopian Air Force L-39s, directly at the
customer’s site.

NOvEmBER:
 Monika Kowalczyková left Aero after more than 19 years. Hubert Kroczek took up the posi-

tion of Vice President for Procurement & Supply Chain.
 Damiano Cotula left Aero.

DECEmBER:
 Factory test pilots vladimír Továrek and vytautas Požela successfully performed the first

flight with the second prototype of the L-39NG (aircraft with serial number 7004).
 Aero delivered to the Czech Army the last one of five L-159T1s after regular repairs.
 The project Proof of L-39NG airframe with triple fatigue life, prepared by Aero in cooperation

with the Czech Aerospace Research Centre (VZLU) received support from the Technology
Agency of the Czech Republic through the TREND program

 Aero sent to VZLU the fuselage of the aircraft with serial number 7003.

The Company did not acquire its own shares in 2019.
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L-39NG (NExT GENERATION) PROGRAm

From a historical perspective, Aero is the world’s largest manufacturer
of jet trainers. It has produced around 11,000 aircraft, hundreds of which
still fly in all continents. Aero aircraft have excellent maneuverability and
can withstand all weather conditions.

The L-39NG is Aero’s new jet aircraft project that will be offered to cus-
tomers in training and light combat configurations. Aero introduced the
project in 2014 and, from the beginning, its strategic project partner has
been OMNIPOL a.s. (hereinafter Omnipol). Omnipol is Aero's partner for
sales to selected territories, and also bears 50% of the costs of develop-
ment of the new aircraft. The cooperation between the two companies
has deep roots. Until 1990, Omnipol was the exclusive exporter of the
L-29 and L-39 aircraft manufactured by Aero.

The L-39NG is based on the aerodynamic concept of the current L-39
aircraft, but utilizes new technologies and modern systems. Thanks
to advanced avionics, the new aircraft can be used as basic, advanced
or LIFT trainer aircraft. In the light combat configuration, the aircraft is
capable of carrying both guided and unguided weapons using five moun-
ting points and is ready to perform a wide range of missions including
airspace guarding, close air support and reconnaissance. 

After the first prototype was introduced in October 2018 and its first flight
took place in December 2018, Aero started working on other prototypes
of the new aircraft. In spring 2019, the prototype with serial production
number 7002 was completed and sent to the VZLU for structural static
tests. These took place throughout 2019 and in the first months of 2020.
In summer, prototype No. 7001 was subject to ground vibration tests
in order for the prototype to return to the flight program in September.
At the beginning of 2020, flutter tests were successfully performed.

In the second half of 2019, Aero completed two more prototypes. The
fuselage and tail of the aircraft with serial production number 7003 was
delivered to the VZLU in December to immediately start preparations for
fatigue tests; the wing was delivered to the VZLU at the very beginning

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The business activities of Aero rely on three
main pillars:

L-39NG
Design, development and production of
a new military jet that can be used as
a trainer and/or light combat aircraft.

SUPPORT OF PROPRIETARY AIRCRAFT
Support of the operators of aircraft develo-
ped and produced by Aero – L-39, L-59 and
L-159. MRO services, aircraft upgrades.

AEROSTRUCTURES
Participation in international aerospace
programs, both as a supplier and as
a development partner.

of 2020. Aero also completed the second
flight prototype. The aircraft with serial pro-
duction number 7004 took its first flight on
9 December, flown by factory test pilots Vla-
dimír Továrek and Vytautas Požela. Throug-
hout the year, tests were also carried out
with the technological demonstrator,
L-39NG aircraft with fuselage number 2626.

In 2019, Aero continued to put intensive ef-
forts in promoting the new aircraft and nego-
tiating with potential customers in almost all
continents. In September, the L-39NG made
first public appearance; it was presented in
a static demonstration at the NATO Days in
Ostrava. In October, the aircraft made its first
trip abroad, to the Sliač air base in Slovakia,
and appeared in a demonstration at the
fourth L-39 Users Group Conference. 

In 2018, Aero signed a contract for the
supply of four L-39NGs in light combat con-
figuration to the Senegalese Air Force. In
this regard, the Chief of the Air Force of the
Republic of Senegal, General Joseph
Mamadou Diop, was the first customer re-
presentative to fly in the aircraft. At the end
of March 2020, the Supervisory Board of the
state-owned company LOM Praha approved
the purchase of four L-39NG aircraft in tra-
ining configuration; they will be used at the
Aviation Training Center in Pardubice for
training air force pilots from both the Czech
Republic and other countries.

Overview of the L-39NG aircraft produced:

AERO IS HISTORICALLY THE WORLD’S 
LARGEST mANuFACTuRER 
OF jET TRAINERS. IT HAS PRODuCED 
AROuND 11,000 AIRCRAFT, HuNDREDS 
OF WHICH STILL FLY ALL OvER THE WORLD.

Production serial No. Type Role
flight tests, 

7001 prototype ground vibration tests,
weapon tests

7002 prototype static tests
7003 prototype ground fatigue tests
7004 pre-serial A/C flight tests

technological
flight tests,

2626 (fuselage No.) demonstrator demonstrator
of new technologies
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Support of the L-159 aircraft used by the Czech Army
 The L-159 ALCA single-seat light combat aircraft were commissioned

by the Czech Army in 2000; the two-seat training version L-159T was
introduced in 2007.

 The L-159s perform a broad range of tasks from advanced and ope-
rations training through close air support to reconnaissance missions
and air defense. They regularly participate in international NATO fly-
ing training events (such as the Tactical Leadership program, NATO
Air Meet, Clean Hunter, and Flying Rhino).

 In May 2019, Aero and the Czech Ministry of Defense announced that
the Company would ensure for the Army maintenance and overhaul of
the 16 L-159 aircraft in four years as part of the PP16 project – peri-
odic maintenance after 16 years of service. In addition to the prescri-
bed work, the contract includes various improvements, such as the
installation of the ESIS driver or the adaptation of the aircraft for the
use of NVG (night vision goggles). By the end of the year, Aero recei-
ved from the Army 5 aircraft for PP16.

 In June 2019, Aero delivered to the Czech Army the last one of three
single-seat L-159s redesigned into modernized two-seat versions
L-159T2 developed by Aero in collaboration with the Czech Air Force.
The new aircraft is equipped with a Grifo radar, two large-scale

SUPPORT OF PROPRIETARY AIRCRAFT
One of Aero’s pillars is the support and
development of the L-39, L-59 and L‑159
aircraft and the provision of aircraft repair
and maintenance, upgrades, modification
and test services to aircraft users.

In 2019, Aero focused on supporting the
existing L-159 customers, i.e. the armies
of the Czech Republic and Iraq, and the
company Draken International. Aero also
continued to support the users of the L-39s
and L-59s. Aero offers an extensive portfo-
lio of services to L-39/L-59 operators ran-
ging from the extension of service life and
overhaul to upgrades of all aircraft systems.

LIGHT COMBAT 
AND TRAINING SYSTEM L-159
The light combat and trainer aircraft L-159
combines many years of Aero’s experience
with the development of military jets with the
latest advances in avionics, engines and airc-
raft systems. The single-seat L-159 is desig-
ned as a light combat aircraft optimized for
a variety of air-to-ground and air-to-air tasks
and reconnaissance missions. The aircraft is
equipped with multi-purpose radar for all
weather conditions and day and night opera-
tion, it can also carry a wide range of standard
NATO weaponry, including air-to-air and air-
to-ground missiles and laser guided bombs.

The two-seat L-159 is based on the struc-
ture of the single-seat version of the L-159
and is primarily designed for advanced and
operations training. The configuration of the
L-159 can be adapted to specific require-
ments of the customer.

multifunctional displays in both cockpits
and, in particular, the new improved
VS-20 ejection seats, which allow incre-
ased number of ejecting modes. 

 In addition, in 2019, Aero completed the
prescribed work on military aircraft
L-159T1 after reaching 2,000 flight hours
(PP2000). The last of the five aircraft was
delivered by Aero to the customer
in early December.

 Aero also continues its program of
upgrading the L-159's functions – an inte-
gral fuel tank, increasing the fuel storage
capacity of the L-159 and so considerably
extending its range and persistence. 

L-159 abroad
 In April 2014, the Company signed a con-

tract for the supply of ten single-seat
L-159As and two two-seat L-159T1s to the
Iraqi Air Force. The supply included the
aircraft repair and supply of logistic equip-
ment. Aero delivered the first L-159s to the
Iraqi Air Force in December 2015 and the
last one at the end of December 2016. Part
of the contract with the Iraqi partner was
also the training of Iraqi pilots and techni-
cians. The L-159 aircraft were immediately
involved in military operations in Iraq. In
2018, Aero signed a contract with the Iraqi
Ministry of Defense for a short-term sup-
port of the operation of L-159s. The con-
tract came into force in March 2020.

 Another contract for the supply of up to 21
L-159s to the American company Draken
International was signed in July 2014. As
in the previous case, the supply included
repairs of the aircraft and delivery of lo-
gistic equipment. In June 2019, the last
aircraft equipped with special desert ca-
mouflage was sent to the customer.

SUPPORT FOR L-39 AND L-59
Aero also provides support for the L-39s and L-59s operated by both mili-
tary and civil users. Aero provides its customers with services from sup-
plies of spare parts, servicing, prescribed inspections and repairs, up to
regular overhauls, often related to service-life extension and installation
of a device measuring the aircraft load in operation. Aero service teams
are prepared to work on customers’ sites; they have had long-term
engagements in Algeria, Bulgaria, Hungary, Nigeria, Slovakia, Tunisia
and other countries. In 2018, Aero upgraded two Algerian L-39s, signed
an L-39 repair contract for six aircraft with one of the Central Asian
republics, and started overhauls of three Nigeria aircraft.

In 2019, Aero completed repairs and extended the life of three aircraft
from Nigeria and is negotiating further cooperation with this country.
Aero and its strategic partner, Omnipol, also signed a contract to over-
haul and upgrade the avionics of six L-39 aircraft for the Ethiopian Air
Force. Implementation of this contract began in October 2019 and is
carried out directly in Ethiopia. The Company also began aircraft main-
tenance work for two Central Asian customers. The repairs comprise
six aircraft for each of the customers. The first two aircraft were delive-
red to the customer in February 2020. These engagements are again
delivered in cooperation with Omnipol.

In October 2019, Aero organized the fourth L-39 User Conference at the
Slovak air base in Sliač. It was attended by representatives of 14 countries.
The aim of the conference is to share experience with the operation of
L-39s, both among the individual users and with the aircraft manufacturer.

ONE OF AERO’S PILLARS IS THE SuPPORT 
AND DEvELOPmENT OF THE L-39, 
L-59 AND L‑159 AIRCRAFT AND THE mRO, 
uPGRADES, mODIFICATION
AND TEST SERvICES TO AIRCRAFT uSERS.

The Czech Air Force currently 
operates 8 two-seat L-159s. 

Aero supports L-39 
and L-59 operators around 
the world.
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AEROSTRUCTURES

AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s. is the direct supplier (Tier 1) and sub-
contractor (Tier 2) to leading world aerospace manufacturers. Aero fo-
cuses primarily on the manufacture and assembly of complex aircraft
structures with a high degree added value (including systems integra-
tion and testing and final inspection). Aero is involved in all stages of the
lifecycle of commercial and military projects, combining the Company’s
extensive experience in the aviation industry acquired during the hun-
dred years of its existence, with implementation of the latest technolo-
gies, testing methods, and lean production principles. 

In 2019, Aero had two key Aerostructures programs: the production of
leading edge for civilian aircraft Airbus A220 (formerly Bombardier CSe-
ries) and the supplies for a military multi-purpose aircraft Embraer
C-390 Millennium (formerly KC-390). The termination of the UH-60M
Black Hawk project by the customer was a significant and unexpected step.

Under the new strategy, Aero emphasizes the development and acquisition
of significant projects focusing on supporting long-term strategic goals:
projects with high added value or risk-sharing programs (close coopera-
tion with customers based on risk sharing in the development, financing
or marketing of products). In 2019, Aero continued to attenuate certain
programs; from the strategic point of view, based on an in-depth analysis
carried out in 2016, Aero decided to no longer support certain projects.

RE-ENGINING OF EXISTING L-39S 
(L-39CW)

Besides the development of the new airc-
raft L-39NG, Aero has also implemented
the project of re-engining of the existing
L-39s. In 2015, Aero successfully installed
the Williams FJ-44M engine and new avi-
onics in the existing L-39CA fuselage air-
frame. The prototype, called L-39CW,
successfully completed its first flight in
September 2015. In February 2018, the
L-39CW aircraft received the type certifi-
cate. Aero has several civilian and military
clients interested in this method of exten-
ding the life and upgrade of existing L-39s. 

EMBRAER C-390 MILLENNIUM

Program Description
 A new multi-purpose mid-size transport

military aircraft, originally called
KC-390, designed for carrying cargo and
passengers.

 The project was initiated by the Brazilian
Air Force who ordered 28 aircraft and
made a commitment to partially finance
their development.

 The aircraft rolled out in October 2014,
and its first flight took place on 3 Febru-
ary 2015; the production of the first se-
rial aircraft began in 2017.

 In September 2018, the aircraft received
a type certificate of airworthiness from
the Brazilian civil aviation authority
ANAC. 

 In September 2019, Embraer delivered
the first aircraft to the Brazilian Air
Force; the second aircraft followed in
December.

 In November 2019, Embraer and Boeing
announced a Joint Venture „Boeing Em-
braer – Defense“ (with a 51% stake held
by Embraer, and a 49% stake held by Bo-
eing) to support and develop the project
and introduced the new name of the airc-
raft: C-390 Millennium

 Aero is a strategic risk-sharing partner
of Embraer.

Aero’s Product and Role
 Aero is fully responsible for the develop-

ment, industrialization, certification sup-
port and production of the fixed leading
edge of the wing.

 Aero is fully responsible for industrializa-
tion and production of all doors, the cargo
ramp and the rear fuselage section.

AERO IS INvOLvED IN ALL STAGES 
OF THE LIFECYCLE OF COmmERCIAL 
AND mILITARY PROjECTS.

Aero focuses on production and 
assembly of complex aircraft structures

with a high degree added value.
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Aero’s Product and Role
 Fully assembled and equipped fixed leading edge (FLE) of the wing

ready for being mounted to the aircraft.
 Aero is fully responsible for the design, industrialization and production.
 In 2019, Aero delivered 48 shipsets of leading edges to the customer,

of which 35 for A220-300 and 13 for A220-100; a significant growth
is expected in 2020 (pursuant to the current forecast, more than 70
leading edges, i.e. an increase of about 50%); the current coronavirus
pandemic is, however, likely to affect the plan.

LEONARDO C-27J SPARTAN

 The C-27J is a tactical military transport aircraft with maximum load
of up to 11.5 tons. The key users of the aircraft are air forces of the
United States, Italy, Greece and Australia as well as other countries of
Central and Eastern Europe, Latin America and Africa.

 Since 2007, Aero has been the sole supplier of the center wing box,
which is a key construction and system unit for the aircraft. 

 The center wing box assembly includes integral fuel tanks, pylons for
engine installation and mechanical systems of the wing, fuel and hy-
draulic lines, and electrical harnesses. All systems are tested by Aero
before dispatched to the customer.

AIRBUS A220

Program Description
 The Airbus A220 is a single-aisle trans-

port aircraft for short and medium-haul
commercial traffic. Two versions of the
aircraft (A220-100 and A220-300) can
carry between 100 and 150 passengers.
The aircraft was developed and launched
by the Canadian company Bombardier
under the name CSeries. 

 Aero is the exclusive supplier of the
leading edge of the wing.

 The contract for the development and
production of the leading edge for the
new aircraft was signed by Aero in 2009.

 In October 2017, Airbus joined the pro-
ject by acquiring a 50.01% stake, with
Bombardier and Investissement Québec
(a Canadian company) holding 31% and
19%, respectively.

 In July 2018, the name of the aircraft
changed to Airbus A220.

 In February 2020, Bombardier withdrew
from the project; the current stakes are
75% Airbus a 25% Investissement Québec

 The first flight of the smaller version
prototype took place in September 2013;
the larger-type prototype was first laun-
ched in February 2015. In 2016, both ver-
sions of the aircraft started to be used by
the first customers.

 At the end of 2019, Airbus had 658 fixed
orders for A220 of both versions and
delivered a total of 107 aircraft.

P2F CONVERSION 

 Aero is a partner of the Singapore com-
pany ST Engineering Aerospace Ltd. in
the development and production of shell
structures for the passenger-to-freight
conversion (P2F) for Airbus A321s and
in the development of another unit for
A320.

 In the first half of 2019, Aero delivered
the first prototypes and now already
supplies serial products.

 The first successful flight of the first
prototype of A321P2F cargo aircraft took
place in January 2020.

LANDING GEAR PRODUCTION

 Aero is the original manufacturer of lan-
ding gear for small aircraft and the sup-
plier of components for the landing gear
of large airliners.

 Aero has developed and manufactured
landing gear for the L-410 UVP-E20 19-
seat twin-engine turbo-prop transport
aircraft of the Czech company Aircraft
Industries, a.s. In August 2019, the com-
panies signed a cooperation agreement
for the L-410NG and L-410 UVP-E20 for
another five years.

 Since 2010, Aero has delivered landing
gear sub-assemblies to Safran (previously
Messier-Bugatti-Dowty) for their single-
aisle medium-range transport aircraft
Airbus A320 and Airbus A321, currently
the best-selling aircraft in the world. In
2014, the contract was extended to include
the A320/A321 NEO line aircraft.

 Aero produces landing gear for all of
in-house trainer and combat aircraft.

COMPOSITE PRODUCTION

 In 2015, Aero signed a contract with the German company MT Aerospace
for the supply of three sets of components for Airbus A400M and A350.

 In 2019, Aero delivered to MTA over 100 sets.
 Aero also manufactures composite parts for other programs, e.g. the

C-390s or L-39NGs, while looking for new opportunities to use this
technology.

 Aero holds the NADCAP COMP certificate and received the NADCAP
Gold Certificate in the spring of 2020.

SIKORSKY UH-60M A S-70I BLACK HAWK

 The Sikorsky S-70/ UH-60 series helicopters are currently the most
common type of military transport helicopter.

 Aero supplied fully equipped cockpits for the UH-60M and S-70i heli-
copters.

 The contract between Aero and Sikorsky for the supply of cockpits for
the UH-60M was concluded in 2010; Aero was one of the two cockpit
suppliers. It also produced cockpits for the international version of the
Black Hawk S-70i for Sikorsky’s subsidiary PZL Mielec in Poland.

 At the end of 2018, Sikorsky decided to terminate the cooperation with
Aero and transfer the production of helicopters to the United States in
line with the requirements of US administration to return production
of strategic military programs to the US. As a result, the production of
Black Hawk cockpits in Aero terminated in the first half of 2019.

AERO PRODuCES LANDING 
GEAR FOR ALL ITS TRAINER 
AND COmBAT AIRCRAFT.
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1,200,000 work hours 
were needed for development 
of new L-39NG aircraft. One person 
would need 600 years.
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AERO’S LONG-TERm STRATEGY 
PARTICuLARLY FOCuSES ON THE DEvELOPmENT
AND SALE OF THE NEW L-39NG AIRCRAFT, 
AND ON CONTINuING STRATEGIC 
AEROSTRuCTuRES PROGRAmS.

SALES

In 2019, the Company recorded revenues of
CZK 2,651.013 million. The most important
source of revenues was the sale of own pro-
ducts and services, amounting to CZK
2,311.008 million, and the sale of goods
amounting to CZK 294.699 million. 

The Company’s long-term strategy particu-
larly focuses on the development and sale
of the new L-39NG trainer aircraft, and on
continuing strategic cooperation programs,
i.e. the C-390 and the A220. The Company
generated CZK 45.306 million from the sale
of assets and material. 

The Company’s supplies to foreign custo-
mers amounted to CZK 1,398.874 million,
accounting for 53% of total revenues.
Cooperation programs accounted for 49%
of total 2019 revenues, amounting to
CZK 1,295.713 million; these mainly include
the A220, C-390 and Black Hawk programs.
Military programs accounted for 49% of re-
venues with CZK 1,301.319 million. The re-
maining Company divisions recorded
revenues of CZK 53.981 million.

PROFIT

The Company recorded loss before taxes of
CZK 1,134 million in 2019. The loss of CZK
1,134 million will be carried forward and
used to offset any profit and reduce tax pay-
ments for the next five years.

The loss before tax comprised loss from ope-
rating activities of CZK 914.4 million and loss
from financial activities of CZK 219.7 million. 

The operating profit/loss dropped by CZK 478.1 million year-on-year. The
amount was adversely affected by the termination of the Aerostructures
programs and, to a certain extent, the termination of supplies in the mili-
tary segment.

The Company recorded a loss from financial activities of CZK 219.7 mil-
lion. Interest expense amounted to CZK 153.8 million and fees associ-
ated with financing amounted to CZK 102.4 million. Interest income,
particularly from the subsidiary, amounted to CZK 2.2 million.

ASSET STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2019, the Company held assets amounting to CZK
5,882 million (2018: CZK 5,911 million). 

Fixed assets amounted to CZK 2,620 million (2018: CZK 2,450 million).
The increase in fixed assets was particularly due to investments in assets
in progress. Assets in progress include mainly assets related to the
development of the L-39NG aircraft totaling CZK 1,445 million (2018: CZK
1,211 million).  

The Company’s current assets amounted to CZK 2,750 million (2018: CZK
2,971 million). Inventory accounted for 77% of their value (2018: 81%).
The volume of inventory fell by CZK 293 million year-on-year, which was
particularly affected by the settlement of suspended Aerostructures
programs (2018: increase by CZK 426 million year-on-year due to sudden
termination of the Aerostructures programs and initiation of the L-39NG
development). 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income accounted for 9% and 8% of total
assets in 2019 and 2018, respectively. They mainly comprised prepaid
expenses amounting to CZK 287 million (2018: CZK 229 million) relating
to the L-39NG development and accrued income amounting to CZK 161
million (2018: CZK 136 mil.) related to military programs. 

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had negative equity of CZK (180)
million (with the balance sheet total of CZK 5.9 billion). As at 31 Decem-
ber 2018, own resources (equity and other funds) accounted for 16%
of the Company’s assets (equity amounted to CZK 921 million with the
balance sheet total of CZK 5.9 billion). The decrease in equity in 2019 was

offset by an increase in the Company's sha-
reholder engagement (additional loans,
increase in total guarantees and the share-
holder’s guarantee for the Company’s loans
from commercial banks) and an increase in
advance payments received from Omnipol,
the Company's partner in the development
of the new L-39NG aircraft. 

Due to the negative results, total debt (provi-
sions and liabilities) increased from CZK
4,922 million to CZK 5,906 million in 2019. As
at 31 December 2019, provisions and liabili-
ties comprised provisions amounting to CZK
447 million (2018: CZK 172 million), bank
loans and liabilities to lease companies
amounting to CZK 1,661 million (2018: CZK
1,735 million), payables to related parties
amounting to CZK 1,771 (2018: CZK 1,422
million), short-term advance payments re-
ceived amounting to CZK 1,139 million (2018:
CZK 542 million), trade payables to business
partners totaling CZK 667 million (2018: CZK
784 million) and other payables amounting
to CZK 222 million (2018: CZK 268 million). 

The development of the new aircraft is
a risk-sharing project, with 50% of the costs
covered by the Company's partner, Omni-
pol, a.s. The project partner’s contributions
are reflected in the Company's liabilities
under the ‘advance payments received’ cap-
tion. As at 31 December 2019, the total
amount of advance payments made by the
partner was CZK 1,110 million, inclusive of
VAT. The amount of these advances has
a significant negative impact on the Compa-
ny’s equity and is the major reason for its ne-
gative value. The Company will not return the
received advance payments to the project
partner, but will use them to cover the costs

incurred in the development of the new aircraft, which are recorded
in assets under fixed assets in progress, thus increasing the value of the
Company's assets. After the completion of the development of the new airc-
raft, Omnipol, a.s. will receive a share in profit from the sale of the aircraft.

Aero, in cooperation with the shareholder, takes active steps towards
recovery from the current unfavorable position. With respect to further
development plans, particularly concerning the completion of certifica-
tion and subsequent mass production of the L-39NG and the projected
revenues from MRO activities in 2020 and beyond, Aero’s current finan-
cial position can reasonably be expected to improve in the near future
and the Company's operations and repayment of liabilities to business
partners will not be threatened.

Compared to the previous year, liabilities increased by CZK 984 million
in 2019 (2018: by CZK 1,114 million), the reason in both years being
the Company’s loss caused particularly by the costs incurred in connec-
tion with the L-39NG project (with no corresponding income) and the im-
pact of termination of certain Aerostructures programs. 

Debt to banks fell by CZK 74 million (2018: by CZK 434 million) year-on-
year. The loan exposure was replaced by support from related parties
amounting to CZK 350 million in 2019; the aim was to optimize the
financing of development projects and cover the recorded loss.

Accruals and deferred income amounted to CZK 155 million (2018:
CZK 68 million).
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AERO INvESTED CzK 2.3 mILLION TO TRAINING 
OF ITS EmPLOYEES AND SEvERAL OTHER 
EmPLOYEE EDuCATION PROGRAmS 
WERE SuBSIDIzED FROm THE Eu FuNDS.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES, 
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS, 
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Investment and development activities were
conducted in accordance with the Company’s
new strategy. A restructuring of Aero took
place in 2019 pursuant to the A3F program.

The Company continued to develop and
manufacture the new L-39NG jet aircraft.
In addition to the prototype with MSN 7001
used for flight tests, another prototype
joined the flight program in 2019: prototype
No. 7004. Aero also completed prototype
No. 7002, which is used for static strength
tests and, at the end of 2019/beginning
of 2020, prototype No. 7003 to be used for
static fatigue tests. The costs of the pro-
duction and development of the aircraft
amounted to CZK 332 million in 2019.

The development under the STEA program,
i.e. passenger to freight conversion (CZK 47
million), and the development of the L-159
(CZK 11 million) also continued.

The Company also made the necessary
investments in IT, buildings and machinery
in the amount of CZK 22 million.

HUMAN RESOURCES

In the area of human resources management, the Company focused
mainly on activities aimed at workforce optimization in 2019, including
significant downsizing affecting both agency and permanent employees.
The main criterion was the need to reduce the cost burden and to leve-
rage the existing workforce so as to satisfy the capacity requirements
of individual production programs. Furthermore, the Company imple-
mented certain changes at the level of top management; these involved
a modification of the organizational structure and a replacement of most
members of top management. Personnel changes also took place
in some other managerial positions within the Company.

In 2019, the average number of employees was 1,463 (1,536 including
agency employees), and the total number of employees as at 31 Decem-
ber 2019 was 1,342 (1,408 including agency employees). During the
period, 66 permanent employees were hired to fill in the positions of qua-
lified workers and technicians for the preparation and implementation
of both existing and new manufacturing programs. The costs of employee
training amounted to CZK 2.3 million and Aero implemented several
employee education programs under the framework of operational
programs subsidized from the EU funds.

In 2020, the Company plans to continue to optimize its human resources
capacities, ensure key competencies and focus on achieving the L-39NG
certification. Other goals include sufficient support to growing MRO
business cases and, obviously, timely deliveries to existing customers
within the Aerostructures programs. In addition to these goals, the
Company has a plan for several projects aimed at improving employee
engagement.

ENVIRONMENT

In 2019, AERO discharged 5.922 tons of
emissions into the atmosphere (of that
3.455 tons of volatile organic compounds,
2.146 tons of nitrogen oxides, 0.226 tons of
solid particles and 0.095 tons of other sub-
stances). The paint shop and related opera-
tions were the largest source of emissions.
Measurements of all sources showed that

emission limits were met in 2019. No air pollution fee was imposed
for 2019. In 2019, Aero produced 1,166 tons of waste, including 454 tons
of hazardous waste.

Aero drew 131.1 thousand m3 of groundwater in 2019 (of that 121.7 thou-
sand m3 for industrial technology). The fees for groundwater abstraction
amounted to CZK 384 thousand. Fees charged for wastewater discharge
amounted to CZK 0.
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uPL IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE OPERATION 
OF THE NON-PuBLIC INTERNATIONAL LKvO 
AIRPORT, PROvISION OF AIR NAvIGATION 
SERvICES AND TRAINING OF AIR TRAFFIC 
CONTROLLERS.

FLIGHT OPERATIONS 
& AIRPORT DIVISION

In 2019, Aero’s Flight Operations and Air-
port Division (UPL) was responsible for the
operation of the non-public international
LKVO airport, provision of air navigation
services and training of air traffic control-
lers (ATCo). The activities of the UPL are
carried out in accordance with Commission
Implementing Regulation (EU) No.
1035/2011 of 17 October 2011 laying down
common requirements for the provision of
air navigation services. Within Aero’s orga-
nizational chart, the Division was designa-
ted as support process S.10. 

Air navigation services and ATCo training services fall under Implemen-
tation Process 1 (an added value process).

The operation of the LKVO Airport and the airport ground handling
services fall under Implementation Process 2.

During the year, the UPL’s priority task was to integrate the requirements
of EU Regulation 2017/373 into the Implementation process 1 - Air navi-
gation services and to amend the related documentation.

Quality Policy:
An integrated corporate policy was determined
for UPL for 2019. The policy governing quality
management, environmental protection,
health and safety, energy management and
information security management was issued
in May 2017 by the President’s order No. 7/2017.
The Policy was revised and issued by the Presi-
dent’s order No. 4/2019 on 18 April 2019.

Operational Safety Policy: 
AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s. operati-
onal safety policy was determined for UPL
for 2019 by the President’s order No. 1/2018.

ASSESSMENT OF THE 
AIR NAVIGATION SERVICES 
PERFORMANCE LEVEL 

Process performance and product 
and service compliance
Throughout the year, the UPL monitors the
performance level of Implementation Proces-
ses 1 and 2 and the compliance of products
and services at the regular monthly UPL ma-
nagement meetings (ŘUPL). At each meeting,
the achievement of limits in the form of SPIs
and KPIs is assessed and the assessment is
included in the minutes of the meeting.

In 2019, the set SPI and KPI limits were met.
Internal audits were carried out in accordance
with the approved annual audit program.
Changes in the audit program are documen-
ted and approved by the UPL management.
The audit program was fulfilled. The final
audit reports are stored in the UPL IS direc-
tory and are available to all UPL employees.

The verification of interoperable and non-
interoperable systems used in the provision
of navigation services was completed and
documented in accordance with the requi-

rements of the Czech Civil Aviation Authority (CAA); the related records
of the interoperable systems were sent to the Authority (the records of
non-interoperable systems are not sent to the Authority). In April 2019,
the CAA carried out a supervisory audit with the conclusion that UPL was
competent as the air navigation service provider and air traffic control-
ler training organization. A supervisory audit by Lloyd's Register LRQA fo-
cusing on quality assurance according to ISO 9001:2015 was carried out
in July 2019, concluding that the UPL quality system meets the require-
ments of the ISO 9001:2015 standard.

monitoring and measurement results
The set SPIs and KPIs for Implementation Process 1 (air navigation se-
rvices + ATCo training organization) and Implementation Process 2 (LKVO
airport operation) were met. The current state of fulfillment of quality ob-
jectives is evaluated every month at the UPL management meetings and
the results are recorded in the minutes of the meeting. Processes asso-
ciated with the measurement of physical quantities are ensured in accor-
dance with Aero’s metrology rules. The measuring instruments are
calibrated and the calibration status is monitored.

Audit results
In 2019, the UPL was subject to 4 internal audits focusing on the Imple-
mentation Process 1 (air navigation services + ATCo training organization),
1 external audit focusing on compliance with ISO 9001:2015 performed by
the certification company Lloyd´s Register LRQA and 1 supervisory audit
performed by the CAA. The audit results confirmed that the UPL was com-
petent as air navigation service provider, air traffic controller training or-
ganization and airport operator and that its quality control system was
compliant with the requirements of the ISO 9001:2015 standard. The final
audit reports are stored in the AVALON IS and are available to the public.

Performance of external providers
External service providers provide contract-based services. No discre-
pancies were found in the quality of the services provided. Critical servi-
ces, e.g. the supply of radar data, are continuously tracked and monitored
by the information system (for quality and completeness of data, data
packets, etc.). The competence of service providers in accordance with
concluded contracts is verified through supplier audits. The 2019 audit
plan included an audit of the geographic data supplier Tesařík a Frank
and an audit of the telecommunication service provider T-Mobile; the
audits were postponed to 2020 in connection with the review of require-
ments for suppliers based on the implementation of Regulation 373/2017
and the related amendment of existing contracts.

mANAGEmENT PROCESSES 
 leadership
 quality management
 safety management

ImPLEmENTATION PROCESS 1 -AIR NAvIGATION SERvICES:
Air traffic services (Air traffic control, 
air traffic information service, emergency service)
Communication service, Navigation service, 
Meteorological service, ATCo and ATSEP training

ImPLEmENTATION PROCESS 2 - LKvO AIRPORT OPERATION:
Handling, Airport maintenance, 
Biological protection of airport, Fire brigade
LKVO airport check-in and handling services

AERO SuPPORT 
PROCESSES
 Security
 HR
 Finance
 IT
 Internal audit
 Metrology
 OHS

ExTERNAL SuPPLIERS’ SuPPORT 
PROCESSES:
 ŘLP ČR, s.p.: overview data, 

communication lines AFTN, VOA, VOB
 ČHMÚ: meteorological information,

technical support
 T-Mobile: telecommunication services
 Emergency medical services
 Customs and passport services
 ALES, TRANSCON, etc. service 

organizations

S.10 UPL
Flight Operations 
and Airport Division
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FINANCIAL RESuLTS
OF THE COmPANY

THE PRImARY TASK OF uPL IS 
TO PROvIDE AIR NAvIGATION
SERvICES FOR AERO AS THE L-39, L-159 
AND L-39NG AIRCRAFT PRODuCER.

PERFORMANCE OF THE AIR 
NAVIGATION SERVICE PROVIDER 

Given the fact that the UPL provides air navi-
gation services in the CTR and TMA airspace
zones of the international non-public LKVO
airport, the business plan is prepared taking
into account the given airport category. The
primary task is to ensure air navigation
services for Aero as the L-39, L-159 and
L-39NG aircraft production, maintenance
and development organization. Financial
performance, i.e. profit generation, is not
among the UPL’s priorities, as commitment
to other aircraft operators might negatively
affect the capacity of services and lead to re-
stricted availability for the needs of Aero’s
post-repair aircraft flights and, in particular,
test flights of the L-39NG aircraft under
development which is Aero’s top priority. 

From the perspective of air navigation servi-
ces provider, the intensity of air traffic at the
LKVO airport does not cause a significant en-
vironmental burden, as the number of flights
is only a fraction of the air traffic of nearby
(neighboring) major airports LKPR and
LKKB. The Key LKVO air traffic data table
below shows that general aviation produces
the highest intensity of traffic in LKVO’s
CTR/TMA zones; the traffic intensity of gene-
ral aviation exceeds the total traffic of other
aircraft categories more than ten times.

The above facts also affect the fulfilment of
the business plan, particularly the differen-
ces between the relevant goals and objecti-
ves and the identification of the necessary
measures to be adopted in order to eliminate
any differences between the plan and the
actual performance; the measures should
include the solution of limited financial
resources and insufficient airport facilities. 

Key LKvO air traffic data (as at 8 January 2020)

Parameters 2016 2017 2018 2019

Flight days per year 208 297 223 266
Number of movements per year 8152 11794 11659 12600
Night movements 10 3 0 4
Movements in the summer season  5073 7940 6437 2623
Engine tests per year 95 103 130 256
Passengers 273 393 473 568
Aircraft types/categories
a) general aviation 7256 8864 10839 11168
b) propeller aircraft over 5.7 tons 200 156 92 163
c) jet aircraft under 100 tons 125 136 40 70
d) jet aircraft over 100 tons 0 0 0 0
e) jet aircraft - military 416 336 593 680
g) helicopters 155 119 95 37
Night traffic from 10 pm to 6 am
a) general aviation 0 0 0 0
b) propeller aircraft over 5.7 tons 2 0 0 0
c) jet aircraft under 100 tons 8 0 0 4
d) jet aircraft over 100 tons 0 0 0 0
f) jet aircraft - military 0 3 0 0
g) helicopters 0 0 0 0

meeting the 2019 plan objectives:

main objectives Plan – main 2019 quality objectives met Note

KPI base management KPID S.10.01. 100% Applies to S.10 support process (UPL)
KPI base management KPID S.10.02. 100% Applies to S.10 support process (UPL)
Implementation of Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2017/373. 95% Documentation submitted to CAA
Overview system for factory maiden flights to test zones Studies completed, not yet approved
– RADAR – LETVIS – initiation of system replacement.

10%
by the investment committee.

Initiation of METEO technology replacement. 10% Studies completed, not yet approved by the investment committee.

Regular training of personnel for ANS division. 100% In line with the training plan.
Modernization of airport facilities 5% Preparation of funding.

Ostatní cíle Increase of commercial IFR traffic. 15% Insufficient LKVO airport facilities, searching for funding.
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FINANCIAL RESuLTS
OF THE COmPANY

THE uPL’S INCOmE IN 2019 WAS mAINLY 
GENERATED BY TRAINING FLIGHTS, LANDING 
FEES, HANDLING SERvICE FEES AND FIRE 
EmERGENCY SERvICES PROvIDED BY AERO 
TO THE SuRROuNDING muNICIPALITIES.

OPERATIONS AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT

Internal aspects affecting the development
of operations and infrastructure in Imple-
mentation Process 1 (air navigation servi-
ces + ATCo training):

 In 2019, personnel changes took place,
described in more detail in the section on
human resources policy.

 In 2019, in connection with the Compa-
ny’s challenging financial position, gene-
ral downsizing took place, which affected
the UPL’s   Air Traffic Services Reporting
Office (ARO); the necessary tasks are
now outsourced.

 Other aspects affecting the operation of
the LKVO airport were the adopted
austerity measures and the change in
payment priorities in connection with the
payment balance monitoring. Comple-
tion of the repair of lights was postponed
till the second half of the year due to the
prioritized requirement to maintain non-
stop daily operation of the airport, ma-
king it impossible to interrupt the
operation for an extended period of time
for the purposes of the repair (excavation
work + replacement of cables).

External aspects affecting the development of operations and infra-
structure in Implementation Process 1 (air navigation services + ATCo
training):

 The UPL's activities were mainly affected by the legislative change in
the form of Regulation (EU) 2017/373, which required incorporation of
the new legal requirements into the Company’s internal guidelines
and the related procedures under the Implementation Process 1 - pro-
vision of air navigation services and training of air traffic controllers.
The implementation took place according to the implementation plan
approved by the CAA.

Adequacy of resources
The UPL's financial resources are limited. Financial limits need to be
determined and subsequently monitored and austerity measures are
constantly sought after. The legal requirements for funding the provision
of the UPL services have been complied with.

Effectiveness of corrective measures adopted to address risks 
and opportunities
All events affecting the safety and quality of services are monitored and
recorded in the SPI/KPI table and discussed by the Safety Action Group
in line with the established internal procedures. The Safety Action Group
also evaluates the effectiveness of corrective measures and, in the event
of recurrent non-compliance, seeks and identifies different solutions that
are expected to be sufficiently effective. In 2019, 44 safety notifications
were filed and 68 meetings of the Safety Action Group took place.

Opportunities for improvement
The final audit reports (both internal and external) show that there is
room for improvement in the processing and maintaining of controlled
documentation (its form and content).

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The UPL’s income in 2019 was mainly gene-
rated by training flights, landing fees, hand-
ling service fees and fire emergency
services provided by the Aero fire brigade
to the surrounding municipalities. The
UPL’s total revenues in 2019 amounted to
CZK 3,447 thousand.

The UPL's major expenses included per-
sonnel costs and material and maintenance
costs. Wage costs amounted to CZK 42,051
thousand in 2019. The costs of employee
training amounted to CZK  503  thousand.
The repairs and maintenance of tangible
fixed assets and the costs of runway main-
tenance amounted to CZK 976 thousand
and CZK 2,036 thousand, respectively, in
2019. The UPL's material costs, including
protective equipment, reached CZK 279
thousand in 2019.

The UPL's EBITDA totaled CZK 44,798
thousand in 2019.

INFORMATION ON FORMAL
CONSULTATION PROCESS 
WITH THE USERS OF 
THE PROVIDER'S SERVICES

In December 2019, a meeting took place
with customers using the LKVO airport.
Among the invited customers, representati-
ves of flight schools took part and expres-
sed their full satisfaction with the provided
services, particularly the opportunity to
conduct night flight training thanks to the

resumed operation of runway lights after extensive repairs. Internal cus-
tomer satisfaction monitoring is carried out on a continuous basis throug-
hout the year, and the results are used for setting priorities and adjusting
operations to Aero's needs in order to ensure the L-39NG test flight pro-
gram and the post-repair maiden flights of the L-159s and L-39s. None of
the internal customer’s flights was canceled due to lack of operational
capability of the air navigation service provider UPL. Five scheduled Aero
flights failed to take place due to lack of operational capability of the LKVO
Airport (snow, unfit runway, required maintenance, planned training…). 

(Note: 45 scheduled flights did not take place due to technical problems
with the preparation of the aircraft for flight, although the UPL was ready
to provide services to these flights.)

Investments are needed for further improvement of customer satisfac-
tion and development of services (hangars for customer aircraft parking
and maintenance, facilities for customers - pilots and passengers,
extension of the operating hours…). 

INFORMATION ON HUMAN RESOURCES POLICY

 Personnel changes took place in 2019. Two employees left: one from the
ATCo flight services department and one from the safety management
department. A new employee took up the position of SM after a selection
procedure. An employee from the ARO left permanent employment and
now continues to work under an agreement to perform work.

 The training of the UPL employees is ensured, supervised and evalu-
ated as part of Aero’s employee education system (HR management).
In 2019, the training of service personnel with ATSEP qualification was
carried out in line with the training plan approved by the CAA for 2019;
the plan was fulfilled. The training of air traffic controllers (ATCo qua-
lification) is ensured by the Organization for the Training of Air Traffic
Controllers in line with the annual training plan approved by the CAA;
the 2019 plan was fulfilled.

 In 2019, general downsizing took place in connection with Aero’s bad
financial position; the UPL nevertheless managed to maintain the
minimum possible number of employees. The number of ARO staff
was reduced by one employee. 
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In 2019, Aero celebrated 

100 years 
since its founding, which 
happened on 2 February, 
1919 in Prague.
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HISTORY FROm THE vERY BEGINNING, AERO FOCuSED 
ON THE DEvELOPmENT AND PRODuCTION 
OF AIRCRAFT AND AIRCRAFT REPAIRS AND, 
IN 1919, AERO INTRODuCED ITS FIRST 
AIRCRAFT - THE A-1.

EARLY DAYS

Aero was established on Tuesday, 25 Febru-
ary 1919, with its registered office in the Old
Town of Prague and production facilities
in Prague-Bubenec. The 101-year history
ranks Aero among the world’s oldest manu-
facturers of aviation technology. From the
very beginning, Aero focused on the deve-
lopment and production of aircraft, aircraft
parts and aircraft repairs and, in 1919, Aero
already carried out flight tests of its first
in-house produced aircraft - the Aero A-1.
The Czechoslovak Ministry of Defense orde-
red mass production of the aircraft designed
for military pilot training, so typical for Aero.

EXPANSION

More powerful trainer aircraft types follo-
wed, and after production had been moved
to new facilities in the Prague district of
Vysočany (1923), the foundations were laid
for a new family of reconnaissance, bomber
and trainer biplanes, the Aero A-11 and
A-12 types. Czechoslovak military pilots
soon became famous for breaking records
and winning races in Aero aircraft. Aero, at

that time a private enterprise owned by Dr. Vladimír Kabeš, became the
main contractor for the Ministry of Defense and the Ministry of Public
Works (civil aviation). The first foreign customers soon followed, starting
with Finland. Between the two world wars, Czechoslovakia took
leadership in many areas thanks to Aero: building a prototype of the first
national fighter airplane, designing the first dedicated cabin transport
aircraft, the first twin-engine aircraft and the first seaplane with locally
designed floats, introducing a braced high-wing monoplane and pione-
ering a practical design of a wooden cantilever wing structure.

WAR PRODUCTION

The enhanced capabilities of the company were fully utilized and later
developed during the German occupation, when Aero produced stressed-
skin semi-monocoque structures with full jigging for reconnaissance and
training missions (Focke-Wulf Fw 189 and Siebel Si 204). Immediately
after the end of the war, the nationalized Aero continued to produce
and repair aircraft. Modified German aircraft types were manufactured
for the Czechoslovak Air Force as well as civil aviation. Shortly after the
war, a new groundbreaking indigenous type was introduced – the high-
performance, twin-engine, all-metal, four-seat Aero 45.

JET ERA

In 1953, new facilities designed entirely for
jet aircraft production were built in Vodo-
chody and put into operation in the same
year. The production involving several Cze-
choslovak aerospace plants focused on li-
cense-based large-scale mass production
of the Soviet MiG-15 aircraft and its deriva-
tives. The supersonic MiG-19 and MiG-21
aircraft were manufactured by Aero throug-
hout the 1960s and 1970s, paving the way to
indigenous jet trainer programs - the L-29
Delfin and the L-39 Albatros. 

ORIGINAL JET TRAINERS

In the second half of the 1950s, the need for
jet trainers grew. The efforts concentrated
on the development of an optimized airframe
and in-house jet engine resulted in the ma-
iden flight of the L-29 in 1959. The final step
on Aero’s path to mass production of jet tra-
iners was taken in the summer of 1961 near
Moscow: the L-29 Delfin won the compara-
tive tests of three different prototypes and
was declared the most suitable trainer airc-
raft in all of the Eastern Bloc countries. Pro-
duction and deliveries continued smoothly
for the following ten years, during which time
the second generation of more powerful and
much more efficient L-39s was developed.
Aero’s manufacturing and assembly halls
were fully engaged in the production of the
L-39 in the 1970s and 1980s. 

The L-39 Albatros family expanded conside-
rably over time, building a good foundation for
further development. The early 1990s were
marked by the use of western avionics and
standards, more powerful American engines

and global equipment; it was the start of a new chapter in the life of the Com-
pany. In addition to the advanced trainer and light combat L-159 aircraft, the
new L-159 combat & training system included integrated logistic support, mis-
sion planning and assessment system and a ground-based training system.

MODERN HISTORY

In the new millennium saw Aero set off in a whole new direction; the
Company engaged in the first cooperation program – the S-76 helicopter
ready for installation of dynamic parts for the US company Sikorsky Airc-
raft Corporation. In 2007, the Penta private equity group became the sole
shareholder of Aero and initiated a restructuring project, opening the
doors to the global market. Aero acquired further cooperation programs,
including the first risk-sharing programs. The Company has become the
business partner of the world’s leading aerospace manufacturers. 

Thanks to the stabilization of the Company’s position, Aero was able to
return to the tradition of jet trainer development and production. In 2014,
Aero announced the launch of the L-39NG project, a reengined new ge-
neration of the legendary L-39 aircraft. In 2014, after several years of ne-
gotiations, Aero also signed the first contracts for the L-159 with
international customers: Draken International, a private US company, and
the Iraqi army. In December 2018, Aero achieved an important milestone:
the L-39NG successfully completed the first flight, 50 years after the first
flight of the L-39 and on the eve of the 100th anniversary of the founding
of the Company. In February 2019, the Company celebrated the anniver-
sary by a special exhibition held in the National Technical Museum.

Hangár v letňanské továrně

Ae-45

L-39 at the International Engineering Fair in Brno
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AERO IN DATES IN 1953, NEW FACILITIES DESIGNED 
ENTIRELY FOR jET AIRCRAFT PRODuCTION 
WERE BuILT IN vODOCHODY AND PuT INTO 
OPERATION IN THE SAmE YEAR.

1919
Aero – továrna léta-
del (Aero – aircraft
factory) founded 
in Prague

A-1, the first 
military aircraft 
designed and built
by Aero.

1923
A-11, the family 
of military biplanes
(bomber and recon-
naissance aircraft)

1929
A-34 “Blackbird”,
first in the family 
of light sport and
training biplanes

1921
A-10, first civil 
airliner

1925
De Havilland DH-50,
passenger airliner
built under a British
license

1937
mb-200, all-metal
bomber aircraft
manufactured
under a French 
license (Marcel
Bloch)

1939
C4/C-104 (Bucker
Bu-131 Jungmann),
trainer and aeroba-
tic biplane

1932
A-100, the family 
of military biplanes
(bomber and recon-
naissance aircraft)

1938
A-304, twin-engine
low-wing military
aircraft
A-300, twin-engine
low-wing bomber

1943
C-3 (Siebel Si-204D),
twin-engine military
aircraft

1953
Aero moved from
Prague to new faci-
lities in Vodochody

1958
Maiden flight 
of the miG-19 
Farmer supersonic
fighter aircraft 
produced under
a Soviet license
(103 aircraft 
supplied from 1958
to 1962)

1962
Maiden flight of the
miG-21 Fishbed
supersonic fighter
aircraft produced
under a Soviet 
license (194 aircraft
supplied from 
1962 to 1972)

1954
Maiden flight of the
mIG-15 jet fighter
produced under 
a Soviet license
(3,405 aircraft 
supplied from 
1954 to 1962)

1959
Maiden flight 
of the L-29 Delfín,
first jet trainer 
designed in Czecho-
slovakia (3,500 
aircraft supplied
from 1963 to 1974)

1986
Maiden flight of the
L-39mS in-house
jet trainer – expor-
ted as L-59 Super
Albatros (60 aircraft
supplied from 
1992 to 1996)

1968
Maiden flight 
of the L-39 Albatros
in-house designed
and constructed 
jet trainer (more
than 2,900 aircraft
supplied from 
1971 to 1999)

1997
Maiden flight of the
L-159 ALCA single-
seat light combat
aircraft (72 aircraft
ordered by the Czech
Air Force)

Joint Venture esta-
blished between
Aero and AIDC  
Taiwan for the Ae270
civil aircraft develop-
ment and production

1947
Ae-45, twin-engine
civil aircraft
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AERO IN DATES IN FEBRuARY 2019, AERO CELEBRATED 
ITS HISTORY BY A SPECIAL ExHIBITION 
IN THE NATIONAL TECHNICAL muSEum

2002
Maiden flight of the
L-159B two-seat
advanced trainer
aircraft

2005
Ae270 obtained
EASA Type 
Certificate

Aero signed 
a long-term master
agreement for
post-warranty 
support of the 
L-159 fleet

2001
Production of f-18
Super Hornet gun
bay door for Boeing
St. Louis launched

Production of Boeing
767 fixed leading
edges kits started for
BAE SYSTEMS (today
Spirit AeroSystems)

2004
Supply of the L-159
aircraft to the Czech
Air Force completed

2007
Private equity group
Penta became
a sole shareholder
of Aero

Advanced light
combat aircraft 
L-159T1 delivered
to Czech Air Force

Production of
centre-wing box 
for C-27j Spartan
for Alenia Aero-
nautica launched

2009
The first internati-
onal risk-sharing
project agreement
signed with Belgian
SONACA

2006
Ae270 obtained FAA
Type Certificate

2008
Start of production 
of Embraer 170/190
door subassemblies
for Latecoere

Aero signed 
a contract with 
SAAB to produce
jAS-39 Gripen
pylons

2010
Contract for the 
production of Black
Hawk uH-60m army
helicopter cockpit
signed with Sikorsky

L-410NG landing
gear development
started

2012
PZL Mielec chose
Aero to supply the
international ver-
sion of cockpits for
S-70i helicopter

2014
Start of develop-
ment of the 
L-39NG, a new 
generation of the
legendary trainer
aircraft 

Aero entered into
strategic partners-
hip with Draken 
International

Aero started the
development of
landing gear for
Tecnam P2012 

2016
The new military transport aircraft KC-390
prototype visited AERO Vodochody after 
public appearance at the Farnborough 
International Airshow.

The US partner Draken International 
initiated the flight operation of its L-159E
ALCA fleet.

The L-159 aircraft proved successful 
in fighting in northern Iraq.

2013
Alenia Aermacchi
chose Aero to supply
14a section fuselage
panels for Airbus
A321

2015
First flight of re-en-
gined L-39CW

2018
Completion 
of the L-39CW
certification

First flight of the
new L-39NG

2017
Official recovery 
of the L-159
production

Start of assembly 
of pre-serial 
L-39NGs

2019
Aero’s 100th

anniversary

2011
Aero in partnership with
Embraer developed,
designed and produced
the KC-390 aircraft.
Aero is responsible 
for the design and 
production of wing 
leading edge, techno-
logical development
and production of all
seven doors, ramp 
and rear fuselage

Aero extended the con-
tract with Messier-Bu-
gatti-Dowty to include
the production of Air-
bus A320 landing gear

2000
The first L-159 
supplied to the
Czech Air Force

Production of Boeing
757 passenger 
door polished 
skins launched

Maiden flight of the
first Ae270 prototype

Production of S-76
helicopter for Sikor-
sky Aircraft Corpora-
tion launched



250 companies
supply for L-39NG aircraft.       
most of the parts are 

produced in the Czech Republic.
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SuBSEQuENT 
EvENTS

JANUARY 2020:
 Pavel Vašíček took up the position of Vice

President for AST Programs.

FEBRUARY 2020:
 We delivered the first two repaired L-39

aircraft to our customer in Central Asia.

MARCH 2020:
 After successful flutter tests and other tests, the L-39NG opened the

flight envelope up to the full range of expected altitudes and speeds.

 The contract for post-warranty support of the L-159s used by the Iraqi
Air Force has entered into force.

 The L-39NG aircraft with serial number 7004 returned to the flight
program.

 A coronavirus pandemic hit the Czech Republic and the rest of the
world; the pandemic significantly affected the Company's operations
due to problematic supplies from certain suppliers, difficulties faced
by the Company's customers, closed state borders and a large num-
ber of quarantined employees.

APRIL 2020:
 Marco Venanzetti left Aero.

In late 2019, reports of COVID-19 (coronavi-
rus) started coming out of China. In the first
months of 2020, the virus spread worldwide
and caused extensive economic damage.
At the time these financial statements are
published, the management of the Com-
pany has already seen a significant decre-
ase of sales in the   Aerostructures business
and decided to react by implementing
short-time work (“kurzarbeit”). On 24 April
2020, an agreement was signed between
the Company and the Basic Organization of
the Trade Union KOVO AERO VODOCHODY
on obstacles to work on the part of the
employer pursuant to Section 209(1) and
Section 209(2) of the Labor Code, which will
affect 200-300 employees for up to three
months starting from 1 May 2020.

The situation is constantly changing and therefore the future impact
of this pandemic on the Company's activities cannot be accurately pred-
icted. The Company's management will continue to monitor its potential
impact and take all possible steps to mitigate any adverse effects on the
Company and its employees.

The management of the Company considered the potential impact
of COVID-19 on its activities and business and concluded it did not have
a significant impact on the going concern assumption.  Accordingly, the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 were prepa-
red on the assumption that the Company would be able to continue as
a going concern.

FORESEEN EVENTS
 Obtaining certification for the L-39NG in the advanced trainer aircraft

configuration.
 Conversion of the aircraft with serial production number 7001 to

a light combat configuration.
 Delivery of the L-39s after repairs and improvements to customers

in Africa and Central Asia.
 Production increase of the A220 program.
 Signing a contract with LOM Praha s.p.
 Signing contracts for the L-39NG with other customers.
 Entry into force of the contract with the Republic of Senegal.
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INDEPENDENT
AuDITOR�S REPORT
(TRANSLATION OF A REPORT ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN CZECH 
- SEE NOTE 2 TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS)

OPINION

We have audited the accompanying financial sta-
tements of AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s.
(the Company) prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the
Czech Republic, which comprise the balance
sheet as at 31 December 2019, and the income
statement, statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information. For details of the
Company, see Note 1 to the financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial
statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2019, and of its financial perfor-
mance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the Czech Republic. 

BASIS FOR OPINION 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the
Act on Auditors and Auditing Standards of the
Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Republic,
which are International Standards on Auditing
(ISAs), as amended by the related application
clauses. Our responsibilities under this law and
regulation are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are inde-
pendent of the Company in accordance with the
Act on Auditors and the Code of Ethics adopted
by the Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Repu-
blic and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requi-
rements. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. 

OTHER INFORMATION  

In compliance with Section 2(b) of the Act on Auditors, the other information
comprises the information included in the Annual Report other than the
financial statements and auditor’s report thereon. The Board of Directors
is responsible for the other information. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other infor-
mation is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our know-
ledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
In addition, we assess whether the other information has been prepared, in all
material respects, in accordance with applicable law or regulation, in particu-
lar, whether the other information complies with law or regulation in terms of
formal requirements and procedure for preparing the other information in the
context of materiality, i.e. whether any non-compliance with these require-
ments could influence judgments made on the basis of the other information. 

Based on the procedures performed, to the extent we are able to assess it, we
report that:  
• The other information describing the facts that are also presented in the

financial statements is, in all material respects, consistent with the finan-
cial statements; and 

• The other information is prepared in compliance with applicable law
or regulation. 

In addition, our responsibility is to report, based on the knowledge and
understanding of the Company obtained in the audit, on whether the other
information contains any material misstatement. Based on the procedures
we have performed on the other information obtained, we have not identified
any material misstatement. 

Responsibilities of the Company’s Board of Directors and Supervisory Board
for the Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the Czech Republic and for such internal control as the Board of Di-
rectors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial state-
ments that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible
for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,

as applicable, matters related to going con-
cern and using the going concern basis of ac-
counting unless the Board of Directors either
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but
to do so. 

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overse-
eing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assu-
rance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opi-
nion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with above regulati-
ons will always detect a material misstate-
ment when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered mate-
rial if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the
above law or regulation, we exercise professi-
onal judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not de-
tecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion,

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reaso-
nableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
Board of Directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the fi-
nancial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial state-
ments represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the Supervisory Board regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

3 June 2020
Prague, Czech Republic

Ernst & Young Audit, s.r.o.
License No. 401

Radek Pav, Auditor
License No. 2042



4 prototypes 
of L-39NG were produced during
development - two for flight 
and two for static tests.
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FINANCIAL STATEmENTS
as at December 31, 2019

CURRENT PRIOR YEAR 
YEAR 2018

GROSS ALLOWANCES NET NET

TOTAL ASSETS 9 570 575 -3 688 500 5 882 075 5 910 898 

A. STOCK SuBSCRIPTION RECEIvABLE 0 0 

B. FIxED ASSETS 5 402 945 -2 782 517 2 620 428 2 450 232 
B. I. Intangible fixed assets 1 794 188 -440 672 1 353 516 1 045 641   
B. I. 1. Development 0 0 0 0 

2. Valuable rights 652 684 -441 510 211 174 227 428   
1. Software 275 644 -257 522 18 122 24 133 
2. Other valuable rights 377 040 -183 988 193 052 203 295 

3. Goodwill -13 915 11 132 -2 783 -5 566 
4. Other intangible fixed assets 1 166 -1 123 43 159 

5. Advances granted for intangible fixed  
assets and intangible fixed assets in progress

1 154 253 -9 171 1 145 082 823 620 

1. Advances granted for intangible fixed assets 0 0 0 0 
2. Intangible fixed assets in progress 1 154 253 -9 171 1 145 082 823 620 

B. II. Tangible fixed assets 3 607 739 -2 341 845 1 265 894 1 403 562 
B. II. 1. Land and structures 1 179 306 -682 050 497 256 523 733  

1. Land 18 206 0 18 206 18 206 
2. Structures 1 161 100 -682 050 479 050 505 527  

2. Movable assets and sets of movable assets 2 068 961 -1 619 152 449 809 478 647 
3. Gain or loss on revaluation of acquired property 0 0 0 0 
4. Other tangible fixed assets 37 069 -20 964 16 105 9 145 

1. Perennial crops 0 0 0 0 
2. Livestock 0 0 0 0 
3. Miscellaneous tangible fixed assets 37 069 -20 964 16 105 9 145 

5. Advances granted for tangible fixed 
assets and tangible fixed assets in progress 322 403 -19 679 302 724 392 037 

1. Advances granted for tangible fixed assets 3 010 0 3 010 4 336 
2. Tangible fixed assets in progress 319 393 -19 679 299 714 387 701  

B. III. Long-term investments 1 018 0 1 018 1 029  
B. III.1. Interests – controlled or controlling entity 1 018 0 1 018 1 029 

2. Loans and borrowings – controlled or controlling entity 0 0 0 0 
3. Interests – significant influence 0 0 0 0 
4. Loans and borrowings - significant influence 0 0 0 0 
5. Other long-term securities and interests 0 0 0 0 
6. Loans and borrowings - other 0 0 0 0 
7. Other long-term investments 0 0 0 0 

1. Miscellaneous long-term investments 0 0 0 0 
2. Advances granted for long-term investments 0 0 0 0 

CURRENT PRIOR YEAR 
YEAR 2018

GROSS ALLOWANCES NET NET

C. CuRRENT ASSETS 3 655 511 -905 983 2 749 528 2 971 084  

C. I. Inventories 2 978 586 -873 254 2 105 332 2 398 760  
C. I. 1. Materials 1 442 092 -621 862 820 230 1 001 950  

2. Work in progress and semi-finished production 1 380 672 -240 305 1 140 367 1 242 047  
3. Finished products and goods 46 858 -244 46 614 44 993   

1. Finished products 0 0 0 0 
2. Goods 46 858 -244 46 614 44 993  

4. Livestock 0 0 0 0 
5. Advances granted for inventories 108 964 -10 843 98 121 109 770 

C. II. Receivables 522 347 -32 729 489 618 472 021 
C. II. 1. Long-term receivables 0 0 0 20 590 

1. Trade receivables 0 0 0 0 
2. Receivables – controlled or controlling entity 0 0 0 20 590  
3. Receivables – significant influence 0 0 0 0 
4. Deferred tax asset 0 0 0 0 
5. Other receivables 0 0 0 0 
5.1. Receivables from partners 0 0 0 0 
5.2. Long-term advances granted 0 0 0   0 
5.3. Unbilled revenue 0 0 0 0 
5.4. Miscellaneous receivables 0 0 0 0 

C. II. 2. Short-term receivables 522 347 -32 729 489 618 451 431 
1. Trade receivables 438 678 -30 117 408 561 374 331 
2. Receivables – controlled or controlling entity 55 808 0 55 808 15 614 
3. Receivables – significant influence 0 0 0 0 
4. Other receivables 27 861 -2 612 25 249 61 486
4.1. Receivables from partners 0 0 0 0 
4.2. Social security and health insurance 0 0 0 0 
4.3. Due from government - tax receivables 0 0 0 16 994 
4.4. Short-term advances granted 20 240 0 20 240 34 665 
4.5. Unbilled revenue 3 982 0 3 982 6 918 
4.6. Miscellaneous receivables 3 639 -2 612 1 027 2 909 

C. III. Short-term financial assets 0 0 0 0 
1. Interests - controlled or controlling entity 0 0 0 0 
2. Other short-term financial assets 0 0 0 0 

C. Iv. Cash 154 578 0 154 578 100 303 
1. Cash in hand 2 090 0 2 090 4 969 
2. Cash at bank 152 488 0 152 488 95 334 

D. Prepaid expenses and accrued income 512 119 0 512 119 489 582  
1. Prepaid expenses 64 829 0 64 829 123 817 
2. Prepaid expenses (specific-purpose expenses) 286 706 0 286 706 229 420 
3. Accrued income 160 584 0 160 584 136 345 
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CURRENT PRIOR YEAR 
YEAR 2018

TOTAL EQuITY & LIABILITIES 5 882 075 5 910 898
A. EQuITY -179 658 920 666 

A. I. Basic capital 1 002 000  1 002 000  
A. I. 1. Registered capital 1 002 000 1 002 000 

2. Own ownership interests (-) 0 0 
3. Changes in basic capital 0 0 

A. II. Share premium and revaluation reserve 1 425 -32 262  
A. II. 1. Share premium 0 0 

2. Capital funds 1 425 -32 262   
1. Other capital funds 0 0 
2. Gain or loss on revaluation of assets and liabilities (+/-) -6 -33 693  
3. Gain or loss on revaluation upon corporate transformation (+/-) 0 0 
4. Differences arising on corporate transformation (+/-) 1 431 1 431  
5. Differences arising between balance sheet date and transformation date (+/-) 0 0 

A. III. Reserves from profit 1 169 1 169  
A. III.1. Other reserves 0 0 

2. Statutory and other reserves 1 169 1 169  
A. Iv. Profit (loss) brought forward (+/-) -50 241 509 850

IV. 1. Retained earnings -50 241 509 850   
2. Other profit (loss) brought forward (+/-) 0 0 

A. v. Profit (loss) for the year (+/-) -1 134 011 -560 091  
A. vI. Approved decision on advances for profit distribution (-) 0 0

CURRENT PRIOR YEAR 
YEAR 2018

B. + C. PROvISIONS AND LIABILITIES 5 906 389 4 922 023   

B. Provisions 446 757 171 774  
B. 1. Provision for pensions and similar obligations 0 0 

2. Provision for corporate income tax 0 0 
3. Provisions recognized under special legislation 0 0 
4. Other provisions 446 757 171 774   

C. Liabilities 5 459 632 4 750 249   
C. I. Long-term liabilities 2 330 458 2 420 634   

1. Bonds payable 0 0 
1. Convertible bonds 0 0 
2. Other bonds 0 0 

2. Amounts owed to credit institutions 557 576 995 049    
3. Long-term advances received 0 0 
4. Trade payables 0 0 
5. Long-term notes payable 0 0 
6. Liabilities – controlled or controlling entity 1 771 334 1 421 334  
7. Liabilities – significant influence 0 0 
8. Deferred tax liability 0 0 
9. Other liabilities 1 548 4 251    

1. Liabilities to partners 0 0 
2. Unbilled deliveries 0 0 
3. Miscellaneous liabilities 1 548 4 251  

C. II. Current liabilities 3 129 174 2 329 615   
1. Bonds payable 0 0 

1. Convertible bonds 0 0 
2. Other bonds 0 0 

2. Amounts owed to credit institutions 1 103 165 739 650   
3. Short-term advances received 1 138 772 541 787  
4. Trade payables 666 689 783 627 
5. Short-term notes payable 0 0 
6. Liabilities – controlled or controlling entity 0 1 084 
7. Liabilities – significant influence 0 0 
8. Other liabilities 220 548 263 467  

1. Liabilities to partners 0 0 
2. Short-term borrowings 0 0 
3. Liabilities to employees 45 141 54 619 
4. Liabilities arising from social security and health insurance 55 826 30 656 
5. Due to government – taxes and subsidies 48 511 10 850 
6. Unbilled deliveries 67 074 103 668 
7. Miscellaneous liabilities 3 996 63 674

D. Accruals and deferred income 155 344 68 209    
1. Accruals 126 501 40 889 
2. Deferred income 28 843 27 320 
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CURRENT PRIOR YEAR
YEAR 2018

I. Revenue from sale of finished products and services 2 311 008 2 131 621   
II. Revenue from sale of goods 294 699 412 667  

A. Production-related consumption 2 136 152 2 667 603  
A.1. Cost of goods sold 303 542 387 301   
A.2. Consumption of material and energy 860 632 1 180 513 
A.3. Services 971 978 1 099 789 

B. Change in inventory produced internally (+/-) (+/-) 43 072 -442 372 
C. Own work capitalized (-) -395 191 -506 167 
D. Personnel expenses 1 131 938 1 256 805 

D.1. Wages and salaries 846 972 922 099 
D.2. Social security and health insurance costs and other costs 284 966 334 706 
D.2.1. Social security and health insurance costs 263 394 297 629 
D.2.2. Other costs 21 572 37 077 

E. value adjustments in respect of operating activities 312 601 85 220  
E.1. Value adjustments in respect of intangible and tangible fixed assets 187 026 138 636 
E.1.1. Value adjustments in respect of intangible and tangible fixed assets - permanent 200 899 213 303 
E.1.2. Value adjustments in respect of intangible and tangible fixed assets - temporary -13 873 -74 667 
E.2. Value adjustments in respect of inventory 98 500 -27 660 
E.3. Value adjustments in respect of receivables 27 075 -25 756 

III. Other operating income 280 045 957 560    
III.1. Income from sale of fixed assets 1 878 40 893 
III.2. Income from sale of materials 43 428 42 289 
III.3. Miscellaneous operating income 234 739 874 378 

F. Other operating expenses 571 534 877 001  
F.1. Net book value of fixed assets sold 1 734 31 149 
F.2. Net book value of materials sold 46 599 23 225 
F.3. Taxes and charges relating to operations 6 570 4 838 
F.4. Provisions relating to operations and prepaid expenses (specific-purpose expenses) 222 689 -120 675 
F.5. Miscellaneous operating expenses

CURRENT PRIOR YEAR
YEAR 2018

* Profit or loss on operating activities (+/-) -914 354 -436 242 

Iv. Income from long-term investments - interests 0 0 
IV.1. Income from interests in subsidiaries or parents 0 0 
IV.2. Other income from interests 0 0 

G. Cost of interests sold 0 0 
v. Income from other long-term investments 0 0

V.1. Income from other long-term investments - subsidiaries or parents 0 0 
V.2. Other income from other long-term investments 0 0 

H. Expenses relating to other long-term investments 0 0 
vI. Interest receivable and similar income 2 150 1 688 

VI.1. Interest receivable and similar income - subsidiaries or parents 2 127 1 674  
VI.2. Other interest receivable and similar income 23 14 

I. value adjustments and provisions relating to financial activities 0 0 
j. Interest payable and similar expenses 153 754 92 478

J.1. Interest payable and similar expenses - subsidiaries or parents 86 317 33 858 
J.2. Other interest payable and similar expenses 67 437 58 620 

vII. Other finance income 34 382 108 244   
K. Other finance cost 102 435 141 303 

* Profit or loss on financial activities (+/-) -219 657 -123 849  
** Profit or loss before taxation (+/-) -1 134 011 -560 091 
L. Income tax -17 473 150 950 

L.1. Income tax due 0 0  
L.2. Income tax deferred  (+/-) 0 0  

** Profit or loss after taxation (+/-) -1 134 011 -560 091  
m. Transfer of share of profit or loss to partners (+/-) 0 0 
*** Profit  or loss for the year  (+/-) -1 134 011 -560 091 
* Net turnover 2 922 284 3 611 780 



CURRENT PRIOR YEAR 
YEAR 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

z. Profit or loss on ordinary activities before taxation (+/-) -1 134 011 -560 091  
A. 1. Adjustments to reconcile profit or loss to net cash provided by or used in operating activities 726 627 266 112 
A. 1. 1. Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets and write-off of receivables 200 899 238 310 
A. 1. 2. Change in allowances 111 702 -128 083 
A. 1. 3. Change in provisions 274 983 45 155 
A. 1. 4. Foreign exchange differences -3 796 21 063 
A. 1. 5. (Gain)/Loss on disposal of fixed assets -144 -9 744
A. 1. 6. Interest expense and interest income 151 604 90 790 
A. 1. 7. Other non-cash movements (e.g. revaluation at fair value to profit or loss, dividends received) -8 621 8 621 

Net cash from operating activities before taxation,
A * changes in working capital and extraordinary items -407 384 -293 979  

A. 2. Change in non-cash components of working capital 691 399 102 929 
A. 2. 1. Change in inventory 201 840 -397 416 
A. 2. 2. Change in trade receivables -61 746 306 246  
A. 2. 3. Change in other receivables and in prepaid expenses and unbilled revenue 7 145 54 858  
A. 2. 4. Change in trade payables -53 765 97 136  
A. 2. 5. Change in other payables, and in accruals and deferred income 597 925 42 105 

Net cash from operating activities before taxation, 
A ** interest paid and extraordinary items 284 015 -191 050  

A. 3. 1. Interest paid -65 904 -54 648 
A. 4. 1. Income Tax paid
A *** Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 218 111 -245 698 

CURRENT PRIOR YEAR 
YEAR 2018

Cash flows from investing activities

B. 1. 1. Purchase of fixed assets -416 435 -683 097 
B. 2. 1. Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 1 878 40 893  
B. 3. 1. Loans granted -19 604 -2 888
B. 4. 1. Interest received 311 1 688 

B *** Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities -433 850 -643 404  

Cash flows from financing activities

C. 1. Change in long-term liabilities, and long-term and short-term loans 270 025 836 759 

C. 2. 1. Effect of other changes in equity on cash 0 0 
C. 2. 2. Profit shares paid 0 0 
C. 2. 3. Effect of other changes in own capital on cash -11 -140 

C *** Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 270 014 836 619 

F. Net increase (decrease) in cash 54 275 -52 483 
P. Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 100 303 152 786 
R. Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 154 578 100 303 
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15,000 
flight hours

is expected lifespan 
of L-39NG. Three times 
more than of original L-39.
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEmENTS
as of December 31, 2019

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY

AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s. (“the Company”) is a joint stock company incorporated on 15 December 2011 under the name
of TULAREO a.s. in the Czech Republic. The Company’s registered office is located at Odolena Voda, Dolínek, U Letiště 374,  zip code
250 70, Czech Republic and the business registration number (IČ) is 24194204. The Company is involved in cooperation in produ-
cing helicopters and aircraft parts, foreign trade of military products, development, production, repairs and modernization of mili-
tary training and combat jets, aircraft related work and operating of the Vodochody airport.

Shareholders holding a 10% or greater interest in the Company’s basic capital are as follows:
TULAROSA a.s. 100 %

The parent company and the sole shareholder of the Company is TULAROSA a.s. with its registered office located at Na Florenci
2116/15 Prague 1, Czech Republic. The ultimate parent company is Penta Investments Group Limited with its registered address
at 3rd Floor, Osprey House, 5-7 Old Street, St. Helier, JE2 3RG, Channel Islands. The consolidated financial statements of the
Group are prepared by Penta Investments Limited with its registered office at 3rd Floor, Osprey House, 5-7 Old Street, St. Helier,
JE2 3RG, Channel Islands.

The Company is included in the consolidated group of OAKFIELD a.s.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared as separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The consolidated financial statements in accordance with Czech Accounting Standards are prepared by OAKFIELD a.s. with its regis-
tered office at Na Florenci 2116/15, Prague 1, Czech Republic, which is the parent company and the sole shareholder of TULAROSA a.s.
The consolidated financial statements are lodged at the registered office of the company preparing the consolidated financial statements.

members of statutory bodies as at 31 December 2019 were as follows:
Board of Directors
Member: Ing. Jakub Hoda

Supervisory Board
Chair: Ing. Dominika Kalinová
Member: Jan Borýsek

By the decision of the sole shareholder dated 15 March 2019, Giuseppe Giordo was recalled from the position of a member of the Board
of Directors with effect from 15 March 2019; the change was made to the public register entry on 28 March 2019.

With effect from 16 March 2019, Ing. Petr Brychta was appointed a member of the Board of Directors; the change was made to the public
register entry on 28 March 2019.

With effect from 20 June 2019, Ing. Petr Brychta was recalled from the position of the Board of Directors member. Ing. Jakub Hoda was
appointed in the position effective from 21 June 2019; the change was made to the public register entry on 17 July 2019.

Jan Kříž was recalled from the position of the Supervisory Board member with effect from 19 July 2019; the change was made to the
public register entry on 4 September 2019.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying financial statements were prepared in accordance with the Czech Act on Accounting and the related guidelines as ap-
plicable for 2019 and 2018.

The financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern.

Explanation Added for Translation into English
These financial statements are presented on the basis of accounting principles and standards generally accepted in the Czech Republic.
Certain accounting practices applied by the Company that conform with generally accepted accounting principles and standards in the
Czech Republic may not conform with generally accepted accounting principles in other countries.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, ACCOUNTING METHODS 
AND DEPARTURES THEREFROM

The accounting policies applied by the Company in preparing the 2019 and 2018 financial statements are as follows:

a) Intangible Fixed Assets
Intangible fixed assets are recorded at their acquisition cost and related expenses.
Internally developed intangible fixed assets are recorded at their accumulated cost, which consists of direct material and labor costs and
production overhead costs.
Goodwill arose as the difference between either the valuation of an enterprise (or a part thereof) acquired by transfer for consideration,
passage of ownership interest or by contribution, or between the valuation of assets and liabilities made in connection with the business
corporation transformation (except the cases where the transformation brings the change in a legal form), and the aggregate of individu-
ally revalued asset components, net of assumed liabilities.
Intangible fixed assets with a cost exceeding CZK 60 thousand are amortized over their useful economic lives. Small intangible fixed
assets (with a cost of less than CZK 60 thousand) are expensed upon acquisition and carried only in a subsidiary ledger.

Amortization
Amortization is calculated based on the acquisition cost and the estimated useful life of the related asset. The useful economic lives are
as follows:

Years
Software 3
Goodwill 5
Valuable rights per contract

An allowance is created against intangible fixed assets if their value as identified by the stocktaking is significantly lower than their
carrying amount.

The costs of technical improvements are capitalized. Repairs and maintenance expenses are expensed as incurred.
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e) Inventory
Purchased inventory is stated at actual cost being determined using the weighted average method. Costs of purchased inventory include
acquisition-related costs (freight, customs, commission, etc).
Finished goods, semi-finished products and work-in-progress are recorded at standard cost, which approximates actual cost. The cost of
inventory produced internally includes direct material and labor costs.

f) Receivables
Receivables are initially measured at their nominal amount. Both long- and short-term receivables are carried at their realizable value after
allowance for doubtful accounts. Additions to the allowance account are charged to income.

g) Derivatives 
Derivatives are initially measured at cost. Derivatives are recorded in other current liabilities in the accompanying balance sheet.
Derivatives are classified as derivatives held for trading or hedging derivatives.

A derivative qualifies as a hedging derivative only if all of the following conditions are met:
a) The hedge is consistent with the Company’s risk management strategy;
b) At the inception of the hedge, there is formal documentation of the hedging relationship in accounting records; the documentation

includes identification of hedged items and hedging instruments, precise specification of the risk being hedged, and approach to
assessing and demonstrating hedge effectiveness; and 

c) The hedge is effective; the hedge is effective if, at inception and during the period for which the hedge is designated, changes in the fair
value or cash flows of hedging instruments attributable to the hedged risk, or overall changes in the fair value or cash flows of hedging
instruments, are within a range of 80–125 percent of changes in the fair value or cash flows of hedged items attributable to the hedged
risk. The Company assess hedge effectiveness at the inception of the hedge and subsequently at least at each balance sheet date when
annual, extraordinary, interim or any other financial statements are prepared.

Derivatives that do not meet all of the above conditions are classified as derivatives held for trading. Gains and losses on derivatives held
for trading are recorded in profit or loss at least at each balance sheet date.

Derivatives are revalued to fair value as at the balance sheet date. The fair value of a derivative approximates its market price published
as at the date when the fair value is determined. Where a derivative is admitted to trading on a regulated market, the market price is the
price on that market at the time of valuation. If the regulated market is not open at the time of valuation, the price prevailing at the last
working day preceding the valuation is used. If no market price is available, a qualified estimate is used. The market price of a derivative
or of its components determined by a qualified estimate may be derived from a similar derivative or its components whose market price
is available. With hedging derivatives for which cash flow hedge accounting is applied, gains or losses attributable to the hedged risk are
recognized in equity. Gains or losses from the valuation of hedging instruments are reclassified into profit or loss during the same periods
in which expenses and income related to hedged items affect profit or loss. If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the
recognition of a non-financial asset, a non-financial liability or a firm commitment for which fair value hedge accounting is applied, the
associated gains and losses may be recognized together with the non-financial asset or non-financial liability.

With hedging derivatives for which hedge accounting for a net investment in foreign subsidiaries or associates is applied, gains or losses
attributable to the hedged currency risk are recognized in equity. These gains and losses are reclassified into profit or loss in the same
periods during which expenses and income on disposal of the hedged net investment in foreign subsidiaries or associates affect profit or loss.

b) Tangible Fixed Assets
Tangible fixed assets with a cost exceeding CZK 40 thousand are recorded at their acquisition cost, which consists of purchase price, freight,
customs duties and other related costs.

Internally - developed tangible fixed assets are recorded at their accumulated cost, which consists of direct material and labor costs and
production overheads.

Tangible fixed assets acquired free of charge are valued at their replacement cost and are recorded with a corresponding credit to
the ‘Other capital funds account’ on the date of acquisition. The replacement cost of these assets is set on the basis of the cost known
at the moment of the respective asset acquisition.
The costs of technical improvements are capitalized. Repairs and maintenance expenses are expensed as incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated based on the acquisition cost and the estimated useful life of the related asset. The useful economic lives are
as follows:

Years
Structures 30 - 45
Machinery and equipment 10 - 30
Vehicles 8 - 20
Furniture and fixtures 4 - 15
Miscellaneous tangible fixed assets 5 - 20

An allowance is created against tangible fixed assets if their value as identified by the stocktaking is significantly lower than their carrying
amount.

c) Financial Assets
Long-term financial assets consist in particular of ownership interests and shareholdings.
Interests and securities are valued at their acquisition cost, which includes the purchase price and direct costs related to the acquisition,
e.g. fees and commissions paid to agents and stock exchanges.

As at 31 December, ownership interests constituting dominant or significant influence are valued at acquisition cost. If there is a decrease
in the carrying value of long-term financial assets that are not revalued at the balance sheet date, the difference is considered a tempo-
rary diminution in value and is recorded as an allowance.

d) Cash
Cash includes liquid valuables, cash in hand and at bank.

Between AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s and AERO Vodochody a.s., a system for utilization of idle money of individual group companies,
i.e. cash pool, has been introduced. Cash deposited in or used from this system as at the date of the financial statements is reported
in ‘Short-term receivables from group companies with majority control’ or ‘Current liabilities to companies with majority control’, as
appropriate, in the accompanying balance sheet and the change in the deposited cash is reported in ‘Loans and borrowings’ and ‘Change
in long-term liabilities and long-/short-term loans’ in the accompanying cash flow statement.
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n) Income Tax
The corporate income tax expense is calculated based on the statutory tax rate and book income before taxes, increased or decreased by
the appropriate permanent and temporary differences (e.g. non-deductible provisions and allowances, entertainment expenses, differen-
ces between book and tax depreciation, etc.). In addition, the following items are taken into consideration: tax base decreasing items
(donations), tax deductible items (tax loss, research and development costs) and income tax reliefs.

The deferred tax position reflects the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for corporate income tax purposes, taking into consideration the period of realization.

o) Subsidies
The subsidies to cover costs are recorded in other operating income upon receipt of the subsidy, observing the matching and accrual prin-
ciples applied to accounting for related costs. The subsidies for the acquisition of intangible and tangible fixed assets and technical im-
provements, along with subsidies to cover interest included in the acquisition cost, either reduce the related acquisition cost or own work
capitalized. Received subsidies are recorded in separate accounts. This treatment enables the Company to closely monitor subsidies’ re-
ceipt and utilization.

p) Subsequent Events
The impact of events that occurred between the balance sheet date and the date of the financial statements preparation is recognized in
the financial statements provided these events provide additional evidence about conditions that existed at the date of the balance sheet.
If material events reflecting the facts occurring after the balance sheet date happened between the balance sheet date and the date of the
financial statements preparation the consequences of these events are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements but not recogni-
zed in the financial statements.

4. FIXED ASSETS

a) Intangible Fixed Assets (in CzK thousands)

COST

In 2016, the Company acquired a part of the Letiště Vodochody a.s.’s enterprise. Negative goodwill of CZK (13,915) thousand arose as the
difference between the valuation of a part of an enterprise and the aggregate of individually revalued asset components, net of assumed
liabilities.

h) Equity
The basic capital of the Company is stated at the amount recorded in the Commercial Register maintained in the Municipal Court. Any
increase or decrease in the basic capital made pursuant to the decision of the General Meeting which was not entered in the Commercial
Register as at the balance sheet date is recorded through changes in basic capital. Contributions in excess of basic capital are recorded as
share premium (agio). Other capital funds are created pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation.

In compliance with the Corporations Act and the Articles of Association the Company is no longer obliged to establish a legal reserve fund.

i) Provisions and Liabilities
The Company creates provisions for losses and risks if the related purpose amount and timing can be reliably estimated and the accrual
and matching principles are observed.

Long-term liabilities and current liabilities are carried at their nominal values. Amounts resulting from the revaluation of financial
derivatives at fair value are shown in other payables.

Long-term liabilities and current liabilities to credit institutions are recorded at their nominal values. Any portion of long-term debt which
is due within one year of the balance sheet date is classified as short-term debt.

Contingent liabilities that are not recorded in the balance sheet because significant uncertainties exist with respect to the amount, title
or timing of the expected outflow of benefits are described in Note 18.

j) Leases
The Company records leased assets by expensing the lease payments and capitalizing the residual value of the leased assets when the lease
contract expires and the purchase option is exercised. Lease payments paid in advance are recorded as prepaid expenses and amortized
over the lease term.

k) Foreign Currency Transactions
Assets and liabilities whose acquisition or production costs were denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Czech crowns at the
exchange rate prevailing at the transaction date. On the balance sheet date monetary items are adjusted to the exchange rates as publis-
hed by the Czech National Bank as at 31 December.
Realized and unrealized exchange rate gains and losses were charged or credited, as appropriate, to finance income for the year.

l) use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The
Company management prepared these estimates and predictions based on all available relevant information. These estimates and
assumptions are based on information available as at the date of the financial statements and may differ from actual results.

m) Recognition of Revenues and Expenses 
Revenues and expenses are recognized on an accrual basis, that is, they are recognized in the periods in which the actual flow of the rela-
ted goods or services occurs, regardless of when the related monetary flow arises.
The Company recognizes as an expense any additions to provisions or allowances against risks, losses or physical damage that are known
as at the financial statements’ date. Long-term contracts are accounted for according to the completed contract method (or as specified
in the contract).

AT BEGINNING AT END
OF YEAR ADDITIONS DISPOSALS TRANSFERS OF YEAR

Software 273,942 - - 1,702 275,644
Valuable rights 331,259 - - 45,781 377,040
Goodwill (13,915) - - - (13,915)
Other intangible fixed assets 1,166 - - - 1,166
Intangible fixed assets in progress 832,791 368,945 - -47,483 1,154,253
2019 TOTAL 1,425,243 368,945 - - 1,794,188
2018 TOTAL 937,634 523,895 (36,286) - 1,425,243
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ALLOWANCES AND ACCumuLATED DEPRECIATION

As at 31 December 2019, tangible fixed assets in progress include in particular production tools for the KC-390 project and L-39NG aircraft.

The total value of small tangible fixed assets, which are not reflected in the accompanying balance sheet, including small tangible fixed
assets located at delivery stations, was CZK 1,058,192 thousand and CZK 1,190,358 thousand, respectively at acquisition cost as at 31
December 2019 and 2018.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, tangible fixed assets with a cost of CZK 1,152,141 thousand and CZK 1,061,704 thousand, respectively
are fully depreciated.

The Company has adjusted the carrying value of certain tangible assets for a diminution in value through an allowance charged against
income (see Note 7). The allowance was CZK 184,520 thousand and CZK 196,665 thousand as at 31 December 2019 and 2018, respectively.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, a part of non-production buildings with a cost of CZK 14,250 thousand and CZK 14,250 thousand and
a net book value of CZK 4,882 thousand and CZK 5,238 thousand, respectively were located outside the Company’s production plant
(accommodation facilities).

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the acquisition cost of assets with limited disposal rights was CZK 714,318 thousand and CZK 711,872
thousand, respectively and their net book value was CZK 285,946 thousand and CZK 300,542 thousand, respectively. The easement relates
to the framework contract for after warranty support for L-159 and L-39 aircraft (see Note 18) and is not recorded in the Land Register.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the acquisition cost of assets pledged as security for provided loans was CZK 134,608 thousand and CZK 134,608
thousand, respectively and their net book value amounted to CZK 69,088 thousand and CZK 72,770 thousand, respectively (see Note 13).

In 2019 and 2018, the Company received subsidies for tangible fixed assets totaling CZK 38,458 thousand and CZK 0 thousand, respecti-
vely; the subsidies reduce the cost of the related asset.

ALLOWANCES AND ACCumuLATED AmORTIzATION 

Negative goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over 60 months through Other finance income in the accompanying income state-
ment. In 2019 amortization of CZK 2,783 thousand was recognized into income. As at 31 December 2019, the net book value of negative
goodwill amounted to CZK (2,783) thousand. Intangible fixed assets in progress as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 include, in particular,
assets internally developed within the L-39NG aircraft development. The costs should be capitalized after aircraft certification.

The total value of small intangible fixed assets, which are not reflected in the accompanying balance sheet, was CZK 6,064 thousand and
CZK 6,064 thousand at acquisition cost as at 31 December 2019 and 2018, respectively. Intangible fixed assets at a cost of CZK 279,945 thou-
sand and CZK 290,955 thousand, respectively were fully amortized as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

The Company has adjusted the carrying value of certain intangible assets for a diminution in value through a allowance charged against
income (see Note 7). As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the allowance was CZK 23,268 thousand and CZK 24,996 thousand, respectively. In 2019,
the Company received a subsidy for intangible fixed assets totaling CZK 18,514 thousand; the subsidy reduces the cost of the related asset.

b) Tangible Fixed Assets (in CzK thousands)

COST

AT BEGINNING AmORTIzATION COST AT END NET BOOK
OF YEAR DuRING YEAR OF SALES DISPOSALS OF YEAR ALLOWANCES vALuE

Software (249,809) (7,711) - - (257,522) - 18,122
Valuable rights (112,139) (57,752) - - (169,891) (14,097) 193,052
Goodwill 8,349 2,783 - - 11,132 - (2,783)
Other intangible (1,007) (118) - - (1,123) - 43
fixed assets
Intangible fixed - - - - - (9,171) 1,145,082
assets in progress
2019 TOTAL (354,606) (62,798) - - (417,404) (23,268) 1,353,516
2018 TOTAL (334,703) (36,280) (19,909) 36,286 (354,606) (24,996) 1,045,641

AT BAGINNING AT END
OF YEAR ADDITIONS DISPOSAL TRANSFERS OF YEAR

Land 18,206 - - - 18,206
Structures 1,157,848 - - 3,252 1,161,100
Machinery and equipment 1,861,125 - (101,784) 56,768 1,816,109
Vehicles 247,173 - (659) - 246,514
Furniture and fixtures 8,391 - (2,053) - 6,338
Miscellaneous tangible fixed assets 20,792 - (255) 16,532 37,069
Tangible fixed assets in progress 407,380 62,521 (73,956) (76,552) 319,393
Advances granted for tangible fixed assets 4,336 15,977 (17,303) - 3,010
2019 TOTAL 3,725,251 78,498 (196,010) - 3,607,739
2018 TOTAL 3,647 721 183,500 (105,970) - 3,725 251

AT BEGINNING DEPRECIATION COST AT END NET BOOK
OF YEAR DuRING YEAR OF SALES DISPOSALS OF YEAR ALLOWANCES vALuE

Land - - - - - - 18 206
Structures (652,321) (29,729) - - (682,050) - 479,050
Machinery and equipment (1 308,991) (81,620) (1,714) 101,784 (1 290,541) (164,841) 360,727
Vehicles (143,738) (14,391) - 659 (157,470) - 89,044
Furniture and fixtures (8,327) (26) - 2,053 (6,300) - 38
Miscellaneous tangible 
fixed assets (11,647) (9,552) (20) 255 (20,964) - 16,105

Tangible fixed assets
in progress - - - - - (19,679) 299,714

Advances granted for 
tangible fixed assets - - - - - - 3,010

2019 TOTAL (2,125,024) (135,318) (1,734) 104,751 (2,157,325) (184,520) 1,265,894
2018 TOTAL (2,037,274) (174,240) (11,240) 97,730 (2,125,024) (196,665) 1,403,562
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6. RECEIVABLES

Allowances against outstanding receivables that are considered doubtful were charged to income based on their analysis (see Note 7).

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, receivables overdue for more than 180 days totaled CZK 37,275 thousand and CZK 24,970 thousand,
respectively.

In 2019 and 2018, the Company ceded receivables of CZK 178,232 thousand and CZK 793,805 thousand, respectively. Revenues from the
ceded receivables in 2019 and 2018 amounted to CZK 177,004 thousand and CZK 788,495 thousand, respectively. Nominal values of these
receivables along with the income from the cession were included in miscellaneous operating expenses or miscellaneous operating reve-
nues, as appropriate, in the income statement.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, unbilled revenue represents, in particular, accrued interest on the loans to related parties and services
and energy consumption for AERO Vodochody a.s. (see Note 21).

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, receivables from Sonaca (Bombardier) and Empresa Brasileira de Aeronáutica S.A. (Embraer) totaling
CZK 174,737 thousand and CZK 133,011 thousand, respectively were pledged to secure provided loans (see Note 13).

Long- and short-term receivables from related parties (see Note 21).

7. ALLOWANCES

Allowances reflect a temporary diminution in the value of assets (see Notes 4, 5 and 6).
Changes in the allowance accounts (in CZK thousands):

Změny na účtech opravných položek (v tis. Kč):  

In 2019, only accounting allowances were created; legal allowances were released.

5. INVENTORY

Excess, obsolete and slow-moving inventory has been written down to its estimated net realizable value by an allowance account. The
allowance is determined by management based on an inventory aging analysis and the analysis of its future usability (see Note 7).

Inventories of the type of materials and work in progress have been pledged to the benefit of Česká exportní banka, a.s. to secure provided
loans (see Note 13).

Of the advances granted for inventory in 2019 totaling CZK 108,964 thousand, an amount of CZK 43 million and CZK 34 million were
advances for the CSeries program and L-39NG serialization program, respectively. Of the advances granted for inventory in 2018 totaling
CZK 113,701 thousand, an amount of CZK 46,472 thousand were advances for purchases from the Ministry of Defense of the Czech
Republic as part of the L159 business transactions.

ALLOWANCE AS AT 31/ 12/ 2019 WORK IN PROGRESS AND ADvANCES GRANTED TOTAL
(IN CzK THOuSANDS): mATERIALS SEmI-FINISHED PRODuCTION  GOODS FOR INvENTORY ALLOWANCES

L-159 144,541 80,020 -      4,083 228,644
L-39 56,851 19,257 -      204 76,313
L-59 36,995 2,611 -      -      39,606
Ae270 29,972 20,732 -      12 50,717
Alenie Program 2,182 1,247 -      47 3,475
Latecoere Program 8,187 9,769 -      1 17,957
Sikorsky Program 190,153 37,658 244 3,823 231,879
Sonaca Program 22,513 3,946 -      -      26,459
KC-390 Program 13,646 8,642 -      -      22,288
A321 panels project 37,638 9,033 -      -      46,671
Stelie Program 4,182 686 -      387 5,256
Other programs 75,002 46,703 -      2,286 123,990
TOTAL 621,862 240,305 244 10,843 873,254

BALANCE BALANCE BALANCE
ALLOWANCES AS AT AS AT  AS AT
AGAINST: 31/12/2017 ADDITIONS DEDuCTIONS 31/12/2018 ADDITIONS DEDuCTIONS 31/12/2019

Tangible fixed 269,604 23,678 (96,617) 196,665 -      (12,145) 184,520
assets
Intangible fixed 26,724 3,655 (5,383) 24,996 -      (1,728) 23,268
assets
Inventory 795,030 127,671 (152,408) 770,293 344,343 (252,469) 862,167
Advances granted for inventory 3,203 3,931 (3,203) 3,931 10,843 (3,931) 10,843
Zboží 4,181 - (3,651) 530 -  (286) 244
Pohledávkám - zákonné 293 - (6) 287 -      (6) 281
Pohledávkám - ostatní 31,105 4,785 (30,523) 5,367 31,098 (4,017) 32,448
TOTAL 1,130,140 163,720 (291,791) 1,002,069 386,284 (274,582) 1,113,771



Annual Report 2019 AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s.

72 73

NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEmENTS
as at December 31, 2019

10. EQUITY

Statement of changes in equity (in CZK thousands):

The basic capital of the Company totaling CZK 1,002,000 thousand consists of 5,010 ordinary registered shares in dematerialized form,
with a nominal value of CZK 200 thousand and is fully paid.

Other funds from profit represent a social fund.

As at 31 December 2019, gain or loss on revaluation of assets and liabilities arose due to the revaluation of interest in the subsidiary
Clester Trading a.s., and as at 31 December 2018, due to the revaluation of derivative transactions (see Note 15) as well as the revaluation
of interest in the subsidiary Clester Trading a.s.

The Company plans to transfer the loss recognized as at 31 December 2019 in the amount of CZK (1,134,011) thousand to accumulated loss.
Pursuant to the decision of the sole shareholder exercising the powers of the General Meeting dated 28 June 2019, transfer of the 2018 loss
totaling CZK (560,091) thousand to accumulated loss was approved.

Pursuant to the decision of the sole shareholder exercising the powers of the General Meeting dated 29 June 2018, compensation of the
2017 loss totaling CZK (5,899) thousand from retained earnings was approved.

8. CASH

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company had the following restricted cash balances (in CZK thousands):

Financial assets deposited in restricted accounts represent a security for guarantees granted by  the banks (see Note 13). As at 31
December 2019 and 2018, the deposited amounts totaled CZK 61,758 thousand and CZK 72,479 thousand, respectively. All bank accounts,
except for the aforementioned accounts with restricted balances, are pledged as security to the benefit of Komerční banka, a.s., and Česká
exportní banka, a.s. (see Note 13). Pursuant to a Framework agreement on the provision of financial services and addenda entered into by
and between the Company and Komerční banka, a.s., on 14 December 2016, the Company was granted an overdraft facility up to CZK
120,000 thousand. On 28 June 2018, an amendment was concluded, on the basis of which the limit for the overdraft facility was gradually
reduced to CZK 60,000 thousand as at 30 November 2018. In 2019 and 2018, the overdraft was used and repaid on an ongoing basis; its
balance was CZK 9,494 thousand and CZK 57,841 thousand, respectively as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 (see Note 13).

Pursuant to a credit line agreement and addenda thereto entered into by and between the Company and Česká spořitelna, a.s., on 9
August 2012, the Company was granted an overdraft facility of CZK 50,000 thousand. On 7 June 2019, an agreement on the assignment
of the credit line agreement No. 2991/05/LCD was concluded between Česká spořitelna a.s., Komerční banka, a.s., and AERO Vodochody
AEROSPACE a.s., and the overdraft was transferred to Komerční banka, a.s. Pursuant to the overdraft agreement dated 7 June 2019 conc-
luded with Komerční banka, a.s., the Company was entitled to continue to use the overdraft facility up to the amount of CZK 50,000 thou-
sand. In 2019, the overdraft was used and repaid on an ongoing basis; its balance was CZK 49,913 thousand and CZK 38,848 thousand,
respectively as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 (see Note 13).

For deposits placed at related parties see Note 21.

9. PREPAID EXPENSES AND ACCRUED INCOME

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, prepaid expenses include in particular prepaid rent, insurance premiums and overhead costs, which are
charged to income for the year in which they were incurred.

Prepaid expenses (specific-purpose expenses) as at 31 December 2019 include accrued costs for the development of the L-39NG aircraft
(CZK 25,498 thousand), for serial production of the L-39NG aircraft (CZK 146,886 thousand), accrued costs for the PP16 program (CZK
51,444 thousand), GO L-39 Uzbekistan (CZK 61,042 thousand) and costs for the STA program (CZK 1,837 thousand). Prepaid expenses (spe-
cific-purpose expenses) as at 31 December 2018 include in particular accrued costs for the development of the L-39NG aircraft and costs
for the STA program. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, unbilled revenues totaling CZK 160,584 thousand and CZK 136,345 thousand,
respectively included in particular estimated revenues from the Iraq FISS business transaction. The financial implementation of the pro-
gram will take place at the end of 2020.

2019 2019 2018 2018
CuRRENCY AmOuNT IN FOREIGN CuRRENCY AmOuNT AmOuNT IN FOREIGN CuRRENCY AmOuNT

(IN THOuSANDS) (IN CzK THOuSANDS) (IN THOuSANDS) (IN CzK THOuSANDS)

Komerční banka, a.s. EUR 1,927 48,964 2,051 52,768
Komerční banka, a.s. USD 564 12,765 564 12,671
ČEB, a.s. USD 1 29 313 7,040
TOTAL 61,758 72,479

BALANCE AS AT BALANCE AS AT BALANCE AS AT
31/12/2017 INCREASE DECREASE OTHER 31/12/2018 INCREASE DECREASE 31/12/2019

Number of shares 5,010 - - - 5,010 - - 5,010
Basic capital 1,002,000 - - - 1,002,000 - - 1,002,000
Gain or loss on revaluation 8,106 589 (42,388) - (33,693) 33,698 (11) (6)
of assets and liabilities
Statutory and other reserves 1,309 - (140) - 1,169 26 (26) 1,169
Retained earnings 515,751 - (5,899) (2) 509,850 - - 509,850
Accumulated loss - - - - - - (560,091) (560,091)
Differences arising 1,431 - - - 1,431 - - 1,431
on corporate transformation
Profit (loss) (5,899) (560,091) 5,899 - (560,091) 560,091 (1 134,011) (1,134,011)
for the year
TOTAL 1,522,698 (559,502) (42,528) (2) 920,666 593,815 (1 694,139) (179,658)
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12. CURRENT AND LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company had overdue current payables totaling CZK 370,706 thousand and CZK 442,563 thousand,
respectively.

Unbilled deliveries as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 represent, in particular, supplies of material and services, and are recorded in the
period in which they were incurred.

As at 31 December 2019, received advances include in particular advances relating to the development of the L-39NG aircraft, which is
a risk-sharing project with Omnipol, L-39 Uzbekistan and L-159 Draken. As at 31 December 2018, received advances included in particu-
lar advances relating to sales of the L-159 aircraft and to development of the L-39 NG aircraft.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company had liabilities of CZK 25,036 thousand and CZK 30,656 thousand, respectively owing to so-
cial security and health insurance premiums not yet mature. Overdue social security liabilities as at 31 December 2019 amounted to CZK
30,790 thousand; a related payment schedule has been provided by the District Social Security Administration Prague-East. The debt shall
be paid in 24 installments, the date of the last installment being set for 22 December 2021.

The Company and SG Equipment Finance Czech Republic s.r.o. have entered into loan agreements with fixed interest rates. The loan ba-
lances with SG Equipment Finance Czech Republic s.r.o. as at 31 December were as follows (in CZK thousands):

The long-term and short-term portions of the loans are classified within Other long-term liabilities and Other current liabilities,
as appropriate.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, other current liabilities comprise inter alia negative fair values of outstanding derivatives (see Note 15).

Payables to related parties (see Note 21).

11. PROVISIONS

The movements in the provision accounts were as follows (in CZK thousands):

BALANCE AS AT BALANCE AS AT BALANCE AS AT
PROvISIONS 31/12/2017 ADDITIONS DEDuCTIONS 31/12/2018 ADDITIONS DEDuCTIONS 31/12/2019

Business transaction Iraq 25,622 31,166 (28,646) 28,142 22,537 (10,533) 40,146
Business transaction 
Czech Armed Forces (CAF -      15,732 -      15,732 5,483 -      21,215

Business transaction 
Tunisia and Algeria 13,834 1,836 (13,053) 2,617 397 (138) 2,876

Business transaction EMBRAER 3,019 15,235 (263) 17,991 21,843 (15,219) 24,615
Business transaction CSeries 5,951 2,583 (763) 7,771 9,602 -      17,373
Business transaction Sikorsky 7,814 5,572 (106) 13,280 -      (9,834) 3,446
Business transaction Black Hawk 8,880 1,080 (3,427) 6,533 240 (1,886) 4,887
Business transaction CWB 5,831 -      (5,383) 448 127 (265) 310
Business transaction A321 504 -      (198) 306 -      (234) 72
Business transaction STELIA 430 -      (28) 402 -      (215) 187
Business transaction MTA 116 103 -      219 88 (19) 288
Business transaction Latecoere -      -      -      -      7,218 -      7,218
Business transaction NVG -      -      -      -      3,143 -      3,143
Business transaction Nigeria -      -      -      -      13,119 -      13,119
Business transaction T2 -      -      -      -      57,930 -      57,930
Business transaction Kazakhstan -      -      -      -      39,349 -      39,349
Business transaction Etiopia -      -      -      -      52,159 -      52,159
Business transaction Pilot gear -      -      -      -      19,196 -      19,196
Business transaction K2 -      -      -      -      12,400 -      12,400
Business transaction DJ -      -      -      -      14,531 -      14,531
Business transaction STA -      -      -      -      43,245 -      43,245
Business transaction SAFRAN -      -      -      -      1,352 -      1,352
Staff bonuses 33,921 47,737 (26,778) 54,880 28,518 (15,698) 67,700
Accrued vacation 20,697 2,756 -      23,453 -      (23,453) -      
TOTAL 126,619 123,800 (78,645) 171,774 352,477 (77,494) 446,757

2019 2018
INTEREST AmOuNT (IN CzK AmOuNT (IN CzK

DuE DATE RATE THOuSANDS) v TIS. Kč

SG Equipment Finance Czech Republic s.r.o. 15/11/2019 0,449 % - 2 371
SG Equipment Finance Czech Republic s.r.o. 15/12/2019 0,449 % - 4 482
SG Equipment Finance Czech Republic s.r.o 15/02/2020 0,449 % 2,004 14,038
SG Equipment Finance Czech Republic s.r.o. 15/02/2023 1,755 % 2,222 2,871
TOTAL 4,226 23,762
Less current portion 2,678 19,511
Net 1,548 4,251
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As at 31 December 2018, the above loans were secured by the pledge as follows:  
– Pledge of receivables (see Note 6); 
– Pledge of current accounts (see Note 8);
– Blank bills of exchange issued;
– Guarantee issued by Penta Investments Limited up to CZK 798 million;
– Pledge of inventories (see Note 5);
– Pledge of AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s.’s shares pursuant to the agreement with the parent company TULAROSA a.s.;
– Pledge of real estate (see Note 4b); and 
– Pledge of movable assets (see Note 4b).

Interest expense on all received bank loans and purpose-restricted consumer loans (see Note 12) totaled CZK 67,437 thousand and
CZK 58,620 thousand for 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Based on the above loan agreements on financing of the Sikorsky, Black Hawk, Embraer, KC-390 and CSeries programs and the L39NG
project, the Company is obliged to fulfill the following financial covenants:

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company was not in compliance with the above financial indicators. A so-called waiver was recei-
ved by the Company from banking institutions as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Based on the above loan agreement with Česká exportní banka, a.s., for financing of the Sonaca program, the Company is obliged to
fulfill the following financial covenants:

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company was not in compliance with the above financial indicators. A so-called waiver was recei-
ved by the Company from banking institutions as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

13. AMOUNTS OWED TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

As at 31 December 2019, the above loans were secured by the pledge as follows:  
– Pledge of receivables (see Note 6); 
– Pledge of current accounts (see Note 8);
– Blank bills of exchange issued;
– Guarantee issued by Penta Investments Limited up to CZK 1,272 million; 
– Pledge of inventories (see Note 5);
– Pledge of AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s.’s shares pursuant to the agreement with the parent company TULAROSA a.s.;
– Pledge of real estate (see Note 4b); and 
– Pledge of movable assets (see Note 4b).

31/12/2018 31/12/2017
INTEREST  TOTAL AmOuNT IN CzK AmOuNT IN CzK

BANKA mATuRITY RATE LImIT THOuSANDS THOuSANDS

Komerční banka a.s., Česká spořitelna, a.s. 
and Československá obchodní banka, a.s., for financing 21/3/2021 1M PRIBOR CZK 180,000 - 180,000
of the Sikorsky and Black Hawk project + margin thousand

Komerční banka, a.s. – financing of production 1M PRIBOR CZK 290,000
costs of the Contract for work with Armed 28/06/2019 + margin thousand - 290,000
Forces of CR “L–159 Modification“
Česká exportní banka, a.s. 31/12/2021 3M PRIBOR CZK 378,000
– Sonaca program + margin thousand 113,376 170,064

Česká exportní banka, a.s. 31/12/2022 6M PRIBOR CZK 550,000
– Embraer program + margin thousand 323,832 406,075

Česká exportní banka, a.s. 29/02/2020 3M PRIBOR CZK 260,000
– Embraer and CSeries program + margin thousand 260,000 260,000

Česká exportní banka, a.s. – financing 30/06/2025 6M PRIBOR CZK 320,000
of production costs for the L39NG program + margin thousand 320,000 320,000

Komerční banka, a.s. 02/01/2020 O/N PRIBOR CZK 60,000
– overdraft + margin thousand 9,494 57,841

Komerční banka, a.s. 02/01/2020 O/N PRIBOR CZK 50,000
– overdraft + margin thousand 49,913 38,848

Komerční banka, a.s. 02/01/2020 1M PRIBOR CZK 180,000
– revolving loan + margin thousand 180,000 -

Komerční banka, a.s. 02/01/2020 1M PRIBOR CZK 390,000
– revolving loan + margin thousand 390,000 -

Bank loans - outstanding interest n/a n/a n/a 14,126 11,871
TOTAL 1,660,741 1,734,699
Less current portion 1,103,165 739,650
Net 557,576 995,049

REQuIRED
COvENANT CALCuLATION vALuE

Net debt (Bank loans – short-term financial assets) / EBITDA (including adjustments < 3,9:1
financial assets) / EBITDA (including adjustmentsr to 2007)
(Annual net income + amortization/depreciation + change in provisions and 

Debt coverage ratio allowances – change in inventories – change in current receivables + change > 150%
in current payables – CAPEX + interest expense) / (interest expense)

Adjusted (Total liabilities – Subordinated intra-group loans – Advance payments

indebtedness ratio – received – Deferred income) / (Total assets – Advance payments received  < 65%
–  Deferred income)

REQuIRED
COvENANT CALCuLATION vALuE

Net debt (Bank loans – short-term financial assets) / EBITDA (including adjustments < 3,9:1
relating to disposal/sale of inventory acquired prior to 2007)
(Total liabilities – Subordinated intra-group loans – Advance

Financial leverage payments received – Deferred income) / (Total assets – Advance < 65%
payments received – Deferred income)
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14. ACCRUALS AND DEFERRED INCOME

Accruals include, in particular, interest on received loans, which is charged to income for the year in which it was incurred.

As at 31 December 2019, deferred income includes revenues related to the ST Aerospace and Draken business transactions. As at 31
December 2018, deferred income includes revenues related to the ST Aerospace business transaction, which are recognized into income

for the year in which they were earned.

15. DERIVATIVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had no hedging derivative contracts.

The Company has concluded several hedging derivative contracts as at 31 December 2018. The derivatives were revalued at fair value,
with negative fair values of the hedging derivatives being included in other payables (see Note 12) and in differences arising from the
revaluation of assets and liabilities (see Note 10) in the accompanying balance sheet.

The following table summarizes face values and negative values of outstanding hedging derivatives as at 31 December 2018 (in CZK thousands):

Hedging derivatives include derivatives that are designated as hedging instruments of assets and liabilities in a hedge of a foreign currency
or interest rate risks and that meet the criteria for hedge accounting.

The following table summarizes face values and negative values of outstanding derivatives held for trading as at 31 December 2019 (in CZK
thousands):

As at 31 December 2019, the Company was provided with the following bank guarantees (in CZK thousands):

As at 31 December 2018, the Company was provided with the following bank guarantees (in CZK thousands):

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company secured the issued bank guarantees by cash of CZK 61,542 thousand and CZK 72,479
thousand, respectively deposited in restricted bank accounts (see Note 8).

BANK GuARANTEE TYPE  vALID uNTIL AmOuNT

Komerční banka, a.s. performance bond 3/11/2025 4,447
performance bond 28/11/2024 1,648
performance bond 4/3/2026 1,918
performance bond 11/1/2027 4,447
performance bond 4/6/2021 45,242
performance bond 24/10/2027 457
performance bond 13/11/2027 1,810
performance bond 12/3/2028 4,447
advance payment 30/6/2020 136,013

performance bond 31/10/2020 34,509
ČEB, a.s. performance bond 31/12/2019 3,441

advance payment 15/3/2020 346
performance bond 15/6/2020 86
advance payment 31/1/2021 226,209

performance bond 31/1/2022 56,552
TOTAL 521,572

BANK GuARANTEE TYPE  vALID uNTIL AmOuNT

Komerční banka, a.s. performance bond indefinite 928
performance bond indefinite 1,917
performance bond indefinite 900
performance bond indefinite 2,573
performance bond indefinite 4,483
performance bond indefinite 4,502
performance bond indefinite 1,942
performance bond 31/1/2019 4,502
performance bond 4/5/2021 51,450
performance bond 31/10/2020 463
performance bond indefinite 2,058
performance bond indefinite 4,502
advance payment 31/12/2019 69,678
advance payment 30/6/2020 137,699

ČEB, a.s. advance payment 15/3/2019 4,626
performace bond 15/1/2020 22,240

CELKEm 314,463

2018
FAIR vALuE

(IN CzK THOuSANDS) FACE vALuE POSITIvE NEGATIvE

Options 1,078,368 - 33,698
TOTAL DERIvATIvES
HELD FOR HEDGING 1,078,368 - 33,698

2019
FAIR vALuE

(IN CzK THOuSANDS) FACE vALuE POSITIvE NEGATIvE

Swaps 290,275 - 359
TOTAL DERIvATIvES
HELD FOR TRADING 290,075 - 359
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The Company quantified deferred taxes as follows (in CZK thousands): 

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company did not record a deferred tax asset of CZK 526,031 thousand and CZK 357,120 thousand,
respectively on the basis that its future recovery is uncertain.

17. LEASES

The Company leases fixed assets, which are not recorded on the balance sheet (see Note 3j).

Assets which are being used by the Company under operating leases as at 31 December 2019 consist of the following (in CZK thousands):

Assets which are being used by the Company under finance leases (i.e. the assets are transferred to the Company when the lease term expi-
res) as at 31 December 2019 consist of the following (in CZK thousands):

The following table summarizes face values and negative values of outstanding derivatives held for trading as at 31 December 2018 (in CZK
thousands):

16. INCOME TAXES

The Company can carry forward tax losses generated in 2019 for up to five years. The remaining tax loss carryforward from the years 2017
through 2018, the benefit of which has not been recognized in the accompanying financial statements, amounted to CZK 1,023,112
thousand as at 31 December 2019. It will be recorded when realized.

2018
FAIR vALuE

(IN CzK THOuSANDS) FACE vALuE POSITIvE NEGATIvE

Options 107,837 - 7,281
Swaps 134,685 - 141
Forwards 154,350 - 1,199
TOTAL DERIvATIvES
HELD FOR TRADING 396,872 - 8,621

2019 2018
(IN CzK THOuSANDS) (IN CzK THOuSANDS)

Loss before taxes (1,134,011) (560,091)
Difference between book and tax depreciation (87,004) (126,809)
Non-deductible expenses
Change in allowances, net 111,708 (128,065)
Change in provisions, net 274,983 45,155
Shortages and losses 75,812 76,345
Other (e.g. entertainment expenses, cession of receivables, contractual penalties) 135,569 92,830
Tax loss (622,943) (600,635)
Current income tax rate 19% 19%
Current tax expense - -

31/12/2019 31/12/2018
DEFERRED DEFERRED DEFERRED DEFERRED
TAx ASSET TAx LIABILITY TAx ASSET TAx LIABILITY

Difference between net book value of fixed 
assets for accounting and tax purposes - (88,733) - (72,999)
Tax loss carryforward 194,391 - 200,740 -
Tax loss for the current year 118,359 - - -
Other temporary differences:
Allowance against receivables and advances for inventory 8,279 - 1,767 -
Allowance against inventory 163,858 - 146,456 -
Allowance against fixed assets 39,480 - 42,116 -
Provisions 84,884 - 32,637 -
Outstanding social security and health insurance 5,513 - - -
Hedging derivatives - - 6,403 -
Total 614,764 (88,733) 430,119 (72,999)
Net 526,031 - 357,120 -

ExPENSE ExPENSE
IN IN

DESCRIPTION TERmS 2019 2018 COST

Information technologies Until 2023 5,876 5,944 26,655

PAYmENTS REmAINING PAYmENTS AS AT 31/ 12/ 2019 
mADE
AS AT DuE WITHIN DuE OvER

DESCRIPTION TERmS TOTAL LEASE K 31/12/2019 ONE YEAR ONE YEAR

Machinery Until 2023        CZK 23,990 16 178 3 932 3 880
Machinery Until 2024        EUR 4,654 3 627 625 402
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20. PERSONNEL AND RELATED EXPENSES

The breakdown of personnel expenses is as follows (in CZK thousands):

The members of managerial and supervisory bodies received total bonuses and other remuneration of CZK 5,817 thousand and CZK 22,445
thousand, respectively on the basis of their positions in 2019 and 2018.

21. RELATED PARTY INFORMATION

The members of statutory and supervisory bodies, directors and executive officers were granted no loans, guarantees, advances or other
benefits in 2019 and 2018 and they do not hold any shares of the Company. The Company sells products, goods and provides services to
related parties in the ordinary course of business. Sales including interest income were CZK 3,651 thousand and CZK 2,643 thousand
(of which interest income was CZK 2,127 thousand and CZK 1,674 thousand) in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Loans provided to related parties as at 31 December were as follows (in CZK thousands):

On 22 July 2010, a loan agreement was concluded between Clester Trading a.s. and AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s. totaling EUR 200
thousand; pursuant to the addendum No. 6 dated 22 July 2019, the maturity was extended until 31 December 2020. The interest rate was
set at 7.58%. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the loan balance was CZK 4,578 thousand and CZK 4,609 thousand, respectively.

On 16 September 2009, a loan agreement was concluded between Clarex Investments a.s. and AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s. totaling
EUR 800 thousand; pursuant to the addendum No. 6 dated 31 August 2018, the maturity was extended until 16 September 2020. The
interest rate was set at 7.58%. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the loan balance was CZK 15,266 thousand and CZK 12,873 thousand,
respectively.

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company has a contractual relationship with mediators and records liabilities to them upon the completion of sales contracts.
Pursuant to the sale contract, the Company undertakes to pay the mediator a part of the income earned. It is not possible to determine the
amount until contract completion. As at 8 December 2005, AERO Vodochody a.s. entered into a Framework contract for after warranty
support for L-159 and L-39 aircraft with the Ministry of Defense of the Czech Republic. The contract was signed for a definite period until
January 2029. The contract has been transferred to AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s. within the spin-off project. In cases of significant
breaches of the contractual terms or in case of withdrawal from the contract, the Ministry of Defense of the Czech Republic is entitled
to claim a penalty and potential additional compensation from the Company. Under the contract, the Company undertook to limit the
disposal of a significant part of its tangible fixed assets (see Note 4b).

The main production orders are realized on the basis of long-term contracts with suppliers. As at 31 December 2019, the commitments
arising from concluded contracts totaled CZK 409,847 thousand, the largest volume of orders being realized with SPEEL PRAHA, První
brněnská strojírna and Evektor – Aerotechnik. These contracts, as a rule, include a provision stipulating the amount of compensation that
the Company is obliged to pay if it fails to fulfill contractual obligations or if it withdraws from the contract. In addition, the suppliers
do not accept responsibility for possible subsequent damage caused by an accident.

The main production orders are realized on the basis of long-term contracts with suppliers. As at 31 December 2018, the commitments
arising from concluded contracts totaled CZK 1,167,498 thousand, the largest volume of orders being realized with the Ministry of Defense
of the Czech Republic, AIR LIQUIDE and Honeywell-ITC. These contracts, as a rule, include a provision stipulating the amount of compen-
sation that the Company is obliged to pay if it fails to fulfill contractual obligations or if it withdraws from the contract. In addition, the sup-
pliers do not accept responsibility for possible subsequent damage caused by an accident. The Company has concluded liability insurance
for its own aviation activity, inter alia liability for operation of aircraft including accident insurance, liability for hangars operation, liability
for airport and navigation tower operation, and insurance for damage caused by faulty products. The overall limit regarding insurance for
damage caused by faulty products totals USD 250,000 thousand, including sublimits for selected projects, i.e. USD 250,000 thousand and
USD 200,000 thousand for the Sikorsky and SAAB project, respectively. The globally effective insurance covers the major risks emerging
from the Company’s aeronautical operations.

19. REVENUES

The breakdown of revenues on ordinary activities is as follows (in CZK thousands): 

In 2019, the revenues of the Company were concentrated primarily with three main customers, i.e. the Ministry of Defense of the Czech
Republic, Bombardier and Embraer. In 2018, the revenues of the Company were concentrated primarily with three customers in the
aviation industry, i.e. the Ministry of Defense of the Czech Republic, Empresa Brasileira de Aeronáutica S.A. (Embraer) and the Ministry
of Defense of Iraq. Subsidies received from the government for maintaining the Company’s operations totaling CZK 34,832 thousand and
CZK 64,319 thousand in 2019 and 2018, respectively are recorded in miscellaneous operating income.

2019 2018
DOmESTIC FOREIGN DOmESTIC FOREIGN

Aviation production 1,164,084 1,414,092 742,512 1,781,119
Non-aviation production 27,531 - 20,657 -
TOTAL REvENuES 1,191,615 1,414,092 763,169 1,781,119

2019 2018
TOTAL mEmBERS OF mANAGERIAL TOTAL mEmBERS OF mANAGERIAL

PERSONNEL AND SuPERvISORY BODIES PERSONNEL AND SuPERvISORY BODIES

Average number of employees 1,462 4 1,732 4
Wages and salaries 846,972 5,817 922,099 22,445
Social security and health insurance 263,394 1,097 297,629 2,695
Social cost 21,572 -      37,077 -      
TOTAL PERSONNEL ExPENSES 1,131,938 6,918 1,256,805 25,140

DuE DATES AmOuNT (IN THOuSANDS
/ INTEREST RATE OF THE ORIGINAL CuRRENCY) 2019 2018

AERO Vodochody a.s. - in CZK Cashpool / 4,02 % 12 160 12,160 -
Clester Trading  a.s. - in EUR 31/12/2020 / 7,58 % 180 4,578 4,609
Clarex Investments a.s. - in EUR 16/9/2020 / 7,58 % 601 15,266 12,873
Clarex Investments a.s. - in EUR 31/12/2020 / 6,10 % 300 7,623 7,717
Clarex bill of exchange - in  EUR 31/12/2020 637 16,181 11,005
TOTAL 55,808 36,204
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On 27 October 2015, a loan agreement was concluded between AERO Vodochody a.s. and AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s. totaling CZK 125,000
thousand; pursuant to the addendum No. 3 dated 1 February 2019, it was extended until 1 July 2025. The interest rate was set at 4.90%.

On 9 March 2018, a loan agreement was concluded between AERO Vodochody a.s. and AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s. totaling CZK 700,000
thousand; pursuant to the addendum No. 1 dated 1 February 2019, it was extended until 1 July 2025. The interest rate was set at 4.90%.

On 1 October 2018, a loan agreement was concluded between AERO Vodochody a.s. and AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s. totaling CZK 600,000
thousand; pursuant to the addendum No. 1 dated 1 February 2019, it was extended until 1 July 2025. The interest rate was set at 4.90%.

On 9 January 2019, a loan agreement of CZK 350,000 thousand was concluded between AERO Vodochody a.s. and AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE
a.s. with maturity on 1 July 2025. The interest rate was set at 4.90%.

Long-term liabilities, incl. estimated payables and accruals to related parties as at 31 December were as follows (in CZK thousands):

By an addendum to the loan agreements, the due dates of interest were adjusted to the due dates of the loan.
Short-term payables, incl. estimated payables and accruals to related parties as at 31 December were as follows (in CZK thousands):

22. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Research and development costs amounted to CZK 323,799 thousand and CZK 449,330 thousand in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

On 10 July 2009, a loan agreement was concluded between Clarex Investments a.s. and AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s. totaling EUR 485
thousand; pursuant to the addendum No. 3 dated 31 August 2018, the maturity was extended until 31 December 2020. The interest rate was
set at 6.10%. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the loan balance was CZK 7,623 thousand and CZK 7,717 thousand, respectively.

In 2015, Clarex Investments a.s. issued the Company bills of exchange in the amount of EUR 428 thousand; in 2019 the bills of exchange for
2016-2019 interest totaled EUR 209 thousand. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded the amounts of CZK 16,181 thou-
sand and CZK 11,005 thousand, respectively from the bills of exchange in the ‘Receivables – group companies with majority control’ caption.

Short-term receivables, incl. estimated receivables and accruals from related parties as at 31 December were as follows (in CZK thousands):

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the deposit (balance) of the Company on the accounts of the related party Privatbanka, a.s., amounted
to CZK 74 thousand and CZK 82 thousand, respectively.

The Company purchases products, uses loans and receives services from related parties in the ordinary course of business. Purchases (in-
cluding interest expense) were CZK 92,275 thousand and CZK 39,196 thousand in 2019 and 2018, respectively, of which CZK 86,317 thou-
sand and CZK 33,858 thousand, respectively, accounted for interest expense.

Loans from related parties as at 31 December were as follows (in CZK thousands):

RELATED 2019 2018

Clarex Investments a.s. – interest in EUR (estimated item) - 3 833
Clester Trading a.s. – interest in  EUR (estimated item) 2 988 2 674
Letiště Vodochody a.s. – trade receivables in CZK 108 72
AERO Vodochody a.s. – interest in  EUR (estimated item) 238 190
AERO Vodochody a.s. – trade receivables in CZK 202 699
AERO Vodochody a.s. – estimated item in CZK 758 201
OAKFIELD a.s. – trade receivables in CZK - 20
TULAROSA a.s. – trade receivables in CZK - 17
TOTAL 4,294 7,706

DuE INTEREST
RELATED PARTY DATES RATE 2019 2018

AERO Vodochody a.s. - in CZK Cashpool 4,02% - 1,084
AERO Vodochody a.s. - in CZK 1/7/2025 4,90% 124,634 124,634
AERO Vodochody a.s. - in CZK 1/7/2025 4,90% 696,700 696,700
AERO Vodochody a.s. - in CZK 1/7/2025 4,90% 600,000 600,000
AERO Vodochody a.s. - in CZK 1/7/2025 4,90% 350,000 -
TOTAL 1 771 334 1,422,418

RELATED PARTY 2019 2018

AERO Vodochody a.s. (interest) 126,500 -
TOTAL 126,500 -

RELATED PARTY 2019 2018

AERO Vodochody a.s. 2,307 2,381
AERO Vodochody a.s. (interest) - 40,905
Clarex Investments a.s. 211 -
TOTAL 2,518 43,286
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25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In late 2019, reports of COVID-19 (coronavirus) started coming out of China. In the first months of 2020, the virus spread worldwide and
caused extensive economic damage.

The management of the Company considered the potential impact of COVID-19 on its activities and business and concluded it did not have
a significant effect on the going concern assumption. Accordingly, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 were
prepared on the assumption that the Company would be able to continue as a going concern. However, management continuously evaluates
the estimated impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s operations with respect to individual production program segments.

Given the impact of the pandemic on air transport, its impact on the Company’s results is likely, especially as regards the production
focused on supplies to other aircraft manufacturers. Due to the reduction in demand from its customers during April 2020, the Company
entered into a partial unemployment scheme for approximately 300 of its employees from May 2020 according to an agreement with a trade
union. The scheme has been approved for a period of three months, after which the current situation will be assessed and a decision on
further action will be made.

On 3 January 2020, a revolving loan agreement of up to CZK 110,000 thousand with Komerční banka was concluded; pursuant to the adden-
dum No. 1, the limit was increased to CZK 350,000 thousand as at 27 January 2020. The loan is due on 1 July 2020.

In addition, the loan of CZK 260,000 thousand from Česká exportní banka was repaid as at 28 February 2020.

The loans with Komerční banka, due on 2 January 2020, were extended to 30 June 2020 and shall be repaid as at 1 July 2020 at the latest.

Jakub Hoda
AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE  a.s.

Mariusz Kedra
Person responsible for accounting
AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s.

Monika Eliášová 
Person responsible for financial statements
AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s.

23. SIGNIFICANT ITEMS OF INCOME STATEMENT

In 2019 and 2018, miscellaneous operating income includes in particular income from ceded receivables (see Note 6) and from received
subsidies (see Note 19).

In 2019 and 2018, miscellaneous operating expense include in particular the nominal value of ceded receivables (see Note 6), shortages and
damages and insurance premiums.

Other finance income and cost in 2019 and 2018 include mainly exchange rate gains and losses as well as expenses and revenues related
to derivative transactions.

Fees paid to statutory auditors for assurance services are disclosed in the consolidated financial statements of the parent company.

24. GOING CONCERN

In 2019, the Company incurred a loss of CZK (1,134,011) thousand and had a negative equity of CZK (179,658) thousand as at 31 December
2019 (see Note 10). This situation indicates the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern and, therefore, the Company may be unable to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

Despite significant accumulated loss and negative equity, the Company believes that it will be able to continue as a going concern and to
realize its assets and discharge its external liabilities in the normal course of business.

This position is based mainly on shareholder’s support as well as future business development, especially with regard to the sale of the
newly developed L-39NG aircraft, where it can be reasonably assumed that contracts for the supply of the aircraft to customers from both
the Czech Republic and abroad will be concluded by the end of 2020 or sooner. In addition, the Company has adopted a number of cost-sa-
ving measures aimed at reducing its operating expenses (e.g. extending working hours without increasing wages, significantly reducing the
number of employees, limiting employee benefits, etc.). The Company has also been in intensive negotiations with banks to extend the due
dates of certain loans, with a likely positive result. In conjunction with the entire OAKFIELD Group, the Penta Group currently looks for ways
to sell the Company; management took further measures should no sale be finalized, including a prospective basic capital increase by
capitalizing the receivable of AERO Vodochody a.s. in the amount of at least CZK 179,658 thousand. The transaction would take place by the
end of 2020 at the latest.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern.
Hence, the accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of these uncertainties.
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233 flights
were performed by 
two flight prototypes 
of L-39NG by the mid-2020.
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REPORT ON RELATIONS
BETWEEN RELATED
PARTIES

The below organigram shows the method of the Company´s control  by the Controlling Person.  

The Controlling Person controls a number of other companies operating in various industries that are not included in the above organigram;
they are persons controlled by the same Controlling Person in relation to the Company. 

REPORT ON RELATIONS BETWEEN THE CONTROLLING AND THE CONTROLLED PERSONS AND PERSONS CONTROLLED BY THE
SAmE CONTROLLING PERSON  

Report of the Board of Directors of AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s. on Relations between the Controlling and the Controlled
Persons and persons controlled by the same Controlling Person prepared  in compliance with the provisions of Section 82-88
of Act No. 90/2012 Coll., on Corporations and Cooperatives (the "Corporations Act") 

SECTION I
CONTROLLED AND CONTROLLING PERSONS

Controlled Person
AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s.
with its registered address at Odolena Voda, Dolínek, U Letiště  374, zip code 250 70
Business registration number (IČ): 24194204 
recorded in the Commercial Register maintained in the Municipal Court in Prague, Section B, file No. 17749
(“the Company“)

Controlling Person
Penta Investments Group Limited
with its registered address at 3rd Floor, Osprey House, 5-7 Old Street, St Helier, JE2 3RG, Jersey

Registration Number: 112 251

SECTION II
REFERENCE PERIOD

This report was prepared for the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019.

SECTION III 
TRUCTURE OF RELATIONS BETWEEN THE CONTROLLING AND THE CONTROLLED PERSONS 
AND PERSONS CONTROLLED BY THE SAME CONTROLLING PERSON

The Company and its directly or indirectly controlling persons and the companies controlled by the same controlling person, i.e. persons
controlled by Penta Investments Group Limited, are considered to be the persons controlled by the same controlling person. 

Penta Investments Group Limited (JE)

PENTA INVESTMENTS LIMITED (JE)

Vodochody Holdings Limited (CY)

AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s.

Clester Trading a.s.

Clarex Investments a.s.

SALORI HOLDING B.V (NL)

Letiště Vodochody a.s.

LV-Solar Vodochody a.s.

OAKFIELD a.s.

TULAROSA a.s.

AERO Vodochody a.s.




100%

100%

100% 100%


100%

100%

100%

















100%

100%

100%

100%
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B. The following contracts/agreement were made or were still effective between the Company and other persons controlled by the same
Controlling Person in the Reference Period:

SECTION IV
THE ROLE OF THE CONTROLLED PERSON IN THE STRUCTURE OF RELATIONS BETWEEN THE
CONTROLLING AND THE CONTROLLED PERSONS AND PERSONS CONTROLLED BY THE SAME
CONTROLLING PERSON

AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s. is an independent entity with a specific business in the Controlling Person´s ownership structure. 

Therefore it does not ensure any activities for the remaining entities in the Controlling Persons´s ownership structure and is not subject
to uniform management procedures and therefore does not form a group with the Controlling Person and other entities in the Controlling
Persons´s onwership structure. 

SECTION V
THE METHOD AND MEANS OF CONTROL 

The Controlling Person controls the Controlled Person in such a way that it holds 100% stake in AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s.  through
the company TULAROSA a.s. The Controlling Person implements its business interests through exercising its shareholder rights within the
Controlled Person´s supreme body including appointment of persons in the Controlled Person´s statutory bodies.

SECTION VI 
AN OVERVIEW OF ACTS CARRIED OUT IN THE LAST REPORTING PERIOD AT THE INITIATIVE OR
IN THE INTEREST OF THE CONTROLLING PERSON OR PERSONS CONTROLLED BY THE SAME
CONTROLLING PERSON IF SUCH ACTS CONCERNED ASSETS, THE VOLUME OF WHICH EXCEEDED
10% OF THE CONTROLLED PERSON’S EQUITY AS REPORTED IN THE LAST FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

No acts were carried out in the Reference Period at the initiative or in the interest of the Controlling Person or persons controlled by the
same Controlling Person that would relate to assets, the volume of which exceeded 10% of the Controlled Person’s equity as reported
in the last financial statements. 

An overview of receivables, payables, loans and estimated items and the volumes of sales and purchases with related parties as at 31
December 2019 is included in the Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

SECTION VII 
AN OVERVIEW OF CONTRACTS OR AGREEMENTS ENTERED INTO BY AND BETWEEN THE CON-
TROLLED PERSON AND THE CONTROLLING PERSON OR BETWEEN THE CONTROLLED PERSONS  

A. No contracts/agreements were signed by and between the Controlled Person and the Controlling Person in the Reference Period.

Period from 1 january 2016 to 31 December 2016

ENTITY TITLE OF CONTRACT DATE OF PERFORmANCE PERFORmANCE CONTRACT DETRI-
/AGREEmENT OFNING RENDERED RECEIvED PERIOD mENT

AERO Vodochody a.s. Addendum No. 4 to the Loan 1/2/2019 Loan interest 30/8/2020 none
agreement dated 20 August 2013 extension

Clester Trading a.s. Addendum No. 6 to the Loan 22/7/2019 Loan interest 31/12/2020 none
agreement dated 22 July 2010 extension

Clarex Investments a.s. Addendum No. 6 to the Loan 31/8/2018 Loan interest 16/9/2020 none
agreement dated 16 November 2009 extension

Clarex Investments a.s. Addendum No. 3 to the Loan 31/8/2018 Loan interest 31/12/2020 none
agreement dated 10 July 2009 extension

Penta Funding Loan agreement 29/3/2019 Loan granted interest 29/4/2019 none

AERO Vodochody a.s. Addendum No. 3 to the Loan 1/2/2019 Loan interest 1/7/2025 none
agreement dated 27 October 2015 extension

AERO Vodochody a.s. Addendum No. 1 to the Loan 1/2/2019 Loan interest 1/7/2025 none
agreement dated 9 March 2018 extension

AERO Vodochody a.s. Addendum No. 1 to Agreement dated 1 October 2018 1/2/2019 Loan extension interest 1/7/2025 none

AERO Vodochody a.s. Loan agreement dated 9 January 2019 9/1/2019 Loan granted interest 1/7/2025 none

Letiště Vodochody a.s. Amendment No. 2 to the Services 1/1/2016 consideration indefinite period none
Agreement (general agreement)

AERO Vodochody a.s. Lease agreement for lease of Neutra- 26/4/2013 Lease consideration indefinite period none
lizing station dated 26 April 2013 of assets 

AERO Vodochody a.s. Contract for the lease of a plot 26/4/2013 Lease lease payment indefinite period none
of land dated 26 April 2013 of real estate

AERO Vodochody a.s. Agreement for the lease of non-resi- 7/2/2013 Lease lease payment indefinite period none
dential premises dated 7 February 2013 of real estate

AERO Vodochody a.s. Services agreement 30/4/2013 Provision of services consideration indefinite period none

TULAROSA a.s. Services agreement 2/1/2014 Provision of services consideration indefinite period none

OAKFIELD a.s. Services agreement 2/1/2014 Provision of services consideration indefinite period none

Letiště Vodochody a.s. Contract for the lease of SM/297/LV 31/12/2015 Lease of airport lease payment indefinite period none
dated 31 December 2015

AERO Vodochody a.s. Contract for the establishment of a right to build 10/11/2016 consideration 99 years none

Letiště Vodochody a.s. Purchase agreement for transfer of 19/11/2015 Sale of plot of land consideration none
ownership between AVA and AV No. 288 of 1,080m2 size

Letiště Vodochody a.s. Contract for establishment of servitude 29/4/2016 Establishment of servitude consideration indefinite period none

Letiště Vodochody a.s. Contract for establishment of servitude 29/4/2016 Establishment of servitude consideration indefinite period none

Agreement extension, 
adjustment to service 
scope and price

Establishment 
of building right
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In Odolena Voda on 31 March 2020

Ing. jakub Hoda
Board of Directors member
AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s.

.

Review of the Report by the Supervisory Board
On 31 March 2020 the Supervisory Board reviewed the Board of Directors´Report on relations between the Controlling and the Controlled
Persons and persons controlled by the same Controlling Person for 2019. The Supervisory Board approves the contents of the Report.

Ing. Dominika Kalinová
Chairperson of the Supervisory Board
AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s.

SECTION VIII 
ASSESSMENT AS TO WHETHER THE CONTROLLED PERSON SUFFERED ANY DETRIMENT 
AND ASSESSMENT OF COUNTER-ACTS 
The Controlled Person suffered no detriment as a result of actions taken by the Controlling Person in the Reference Period and therefore
no assessment of counter-acts could be performed.

SECTION IX 
ADVANTAGES AND DISADVANTAGES RESULTING FROM RELATIONS BETWEEN 
THE CONTROLLED PERSON AND THE CONTROLLING PERSON AND  PERSONS CONTROLLED 
BY THE SAME CONTROLLING PERSON 

The fact that a financial group with a strong capital position stands behind the Company is of a great advantage for it in both,  relations with
financing banks from which the Company receives funding and relations with foreign customers to whom the Controlling Person may
provide contractual support for their transactions.  

No situation resulted from relation between the Controlling and the Controlled Persons in the Reference Period that could be denoted as
disadvantage in commercial or any other meaning.

SECTION X
CONCLUSION
The Board of Directors of AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s. hereby represents that it has exercised due care and diligence in determining
the relations between the Controlling and the Controlled Persons and persons controlled by the same Controlling Person for the purposes
of this Report, primarily by soliciting information from the Controlling Person on the group of entities controlled by it in the given period.

The Board of Directors of AERO Vodochody AEROSPACE a.s. hereby declares that all pecuniary performance and counter-performance ren-
dered on the basis of the relations disclosed in Sections VII of this Report were made on an arm´s length basis.  

This Report was submitted to the Supervisory Board for its review and to the Company´s auditor who will perform an audit of the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 within the meaning of special legislation.
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